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Financial highlights

Who we are 
The RM Group provides innovative professional services
and Information and Communications Technology (ICT)
products to schools, colleges and universities, 
local government and central government education
departments and agencies. We focus on working 
with our customers to use new processes, techniques
and technology to improve educational delivery 
and outcomes.

Where we are going
The RM Group is already the UK’s leading supplier 
of educational ICT. Our aim is to become a broadly-
based provider of educational services, focusing on
educational processes and improvement.

The opportunity
With growing education budgets, and the private 
sector increasingly seen as a key source of 
educational innovation, the RM Group is well placed 
for future growth.

2003 2002

Turnover £215.5m £202.2m

Turnover (ex LSP) £214.3m £182.9m

Operating expenses excluding goodwill £45.7m* £47.2m

Profit before tax, goodwill and exceptional items £8.6m** £5.0m***

Net funds at 30th September £38.4m £32.7m

*Total operating expenses of £48.1m, less goodwill amortisation of £2.4m.
**Total profit before tax of £6.2m, plus goodwill amortisation of £2.4m.
***Before exceptional items.
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Our business
model
We work in partnership with our
customers with the shared aim of
improving education.

Focus
The RM Group’s single focus is education.
With many of our staff having experience 
as educationalists, our understanding,
knowledge and experience are genuinely
valued by our customers.

Direct engagement 
RM Group companies have a close
relationship with the users of their
products and services.  We are directly
involved in our customers’ successes and
immediately aware of how we can improve.

Innovation
The RM Group has a long track record of
educational innovation. From the earliest
days of education computing to the cutting
edge of online assessment, we are a 
world-leader.

Customer satisfaction 
The RM Group strives to provide ever
improving levels of customer service. We
aim to put our customers’ experience at 
the heart of everything we do.

Five Year Summary

£000 (except where otherwise stated) 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

Turnover 162,210 207,560 241,916 202,158 215,494

Operating profit* 11,730 15,046 15,860 4,059 7,567

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation* 12,262 15,497 16,252 5,042 8,649

Profit/(Loss) after taxation 9,197 7,509 10,656 (4,819) 4,675

Tax rate** 25% 20% 28% 28% 18%

Diluted earnings per share* 9.8p 13.0p 12.3p 3.8p 7.9p

Diluted earnings per share at normalised tax rate of 28%* 9.3p 11.6p 12.3p 3.8p 6.9p

Dividends per share 2.86p 3.50p 4.15p 4.15p 4.35p

Balance sheet:

– Capital employed 18,749 25,950 23,859 1,934 1,254

– Net cash 17,794 19,182 29,165 39,125 40,625

– Net funds 17,794 16,852 27,068 32,663 38,417

– Shareholders’ funds 36,543 45,132 53,024 41,059 41,879

Operating profit* as a percentage of:

– Turnover 7.2% 7.2% 6.6% 2.0% 3.5%

– Average capital employed 75.5% 67.3% 63.7% 31.5% 474.7%

Average no. of employees 1,322 1,571 1,738 1,590 1,545

Notes:
*Before amortisation of goodwill and exceptional items.
**Tax rate as a % of profit before amortisation of goodwill.
Exceptional items comprise:

2000 – £5,359 exceptional cost of sales related to an abortive project in Northern Ireland.
2002 – £8,968 exceptional administrative expenses related to restructuring and intangible asset impairment.
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Activities
Education software and services
Growing out of our experience of creating
innovative learning software, RM is now a
significant provider of education software
and services. Ranging from packaged
software products addressing specific
curriculum subjects, to complex online
assessment projects, we have the capability
to work with educationalists to improve
teaching and learning processes.

Infrastructure software and services
Educational establishments have
increasingly complex ICT installations 
and very different requirements to
business users. From RM Connect (our
schools network environment), through
broadband connectivity, to professional
services, we provide an integrated set of
products and services that allows those
installations to be managed effectively.

Hardware
We provide a wide range of innovative ICT
hardware specially tailored to educational
environments. RM pioneered the use of
interactive whole-class teaching technology
such as interactive white boards, and our
personal computer range includes products
specifically designed for education, such as
RM Tablet PC, the RM IntelliDesk™ and the
All-in-One PC, as well as desktop and
mobile PCs.
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Operational highlights

• Growth in core business against a flat market

• £110 million strategic project wins

• Expansion into education services

• Growing customer satisfaction culture
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Delivering our 
strategy - Q&As

Tim Pearson
Chief Executive Officer

Tony Dale
Group Director – 
Sales and Marketing

Customer service is important to you,
what progress have you made here?

TP: I firmly believe that companies 
with an intense focus on customer
satisfaction are the same companies
that offer superior shareholder 
returns. For RM the most important
non-financial measure is our internal
customer satisfaction score – and over
the last year it has been going up.

RS: In operational terms we’ve got a
much deeper customer satisfaction
culture than we’ve ever had before.
Across the organisation people
understand that what really counts 
is happy customers, and our systems
allow us to have a good view of how
well we’re doing at making them happy.
The feedback we’re now getting is very
positive – customers recognise we’re
working hard to improve.

You’ve identified education services 
as a particular growth area, how is
that going?

TP: In some ways education services 
is where RM’s been for a long time –
but we’ve specialised in ICT
(Information and Communications
Technology), which is only one part 
of the market. The broad education
services market is a big opportunity 
for RM, and we’ve made some real
progress.

RM’s Executive Committee
discuss the activities 
underpinning RM’s strategy.

Mike Greig
Group Finance Director

Rob Sirs
Group Director –
Products and Services



Annual report and accounts 2003 RM plc 3

MG: Our strategic projects are clearly
taking us into new areas, and we’ve
also got a number of smaller projects
underway. We’re particularly interested
in the area of assessment – there’s a
clear role for ICT and our experience
with the QCA (Qualifications and
Curriculum Authority) project is
positioning us well to be a leader 
in this area.

How has your sales and marketing
strategy developed during 2003?

TD: The key thing is customer focus –
there’s now a much greater alignment
between our sales teams and the way
our customers think of themselves. 
We have a primary team dealing with
primary schools, a secondary team
dealing with secondary schools 
and so on. It means our people can 
much more clearly identify with their
customers, and it builds very specific
knowledge and expertise . 

TP: Our new structure also recognises
our determination to increase the
number of schools that RM work with.
Identifying new business is a different
discipline to account management, and
requires a different set of skills.

2003 has been a good year for
strategic projects, what’s on the
horizon for this area of the business?

MG: It has been a good year – four
projects won out of a pipeline of five 
at the start of the year, at a value of
£110 million. We’re now focusing on
replenishing the pipeline, and we’ve
made good progress on three new PFI
project bids in Warwickshire, Newham
and Lambeth.

TD: We think last year will turn out to be
a turning point for RM. We were a good
ICT supplier, well placed to bid 
or strategic projects but with a limited
track record. We’ve now established
ourselves as a significant force, with 
a strong reputation and a considerable
track record. 

Hardware continues to be a significant
part of your business, how are you
responding to pressure on average
selling prices and margins?

TP: RM is a very efficient PC producer –
and our customers value our ability to
provide them with complete integrated
solutions including hardware.
Nonetheless, part of our strategy for the
business is to decrease our dependency
on a highly competitive and relatively
low margin market.

RS: Both the value and the volume 
of our personal computer business
increased in 2003, so PCs have broadly
contributed the same amount to gross
profit this year as last year. We’ve
achieved this by offering a wide range of
high quality products and, with products
like RM IntelliDesk™, RM Tablet PC and
All-in-One PC, by innovating in areas
that are important to education.

You commented during the year 
about school funding, how has this
impacted 2003?

MG: In May we said that there was
confusion over school funding and that
budgets for government year 2003/04
weren’t matching head teachers’
expectations of growth. In the event, 
the impact wasn’t as bad as some
people feared and the second half of
our year was in line with our plan – it
was a tough market but we did well
despite this.

TP: We worked very hard during 2003
to provide higher levels of customer
satisfaction and genuinely innovative
and educationally useful products and
services. As a result our customers
have continued to prioritise educational
ICT spend.

How do you view the future for RM?

TP: We’ve made good progress this
year. We’re on our way to becoming 
a broadly-based education services
provider, which is the strategy I set out
when I took over as CEO. What we have
to do is continue to increase the value
we offer our customers in areas beyond
ICT and, crucially, to build educational
intellectual capital across the business.

‘We worked very hard during 2003 to provide higher
levels of customer satisfaction and genuinely
innovative and educationally useful products and
services.’ Tim Pearson Chief Executive Officer
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Objectives:2003

Over the past 12 months 
RM's Management Team 
led by Tim Pearson has 
focused on delivering 
RM's strategy.

01 Controlling costs 02 Improving efficiency 
and effectiveness

03 Identifying areas 
of growth 
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Innovation
Innovation is increasingly important to the
RM Group as educational customers
become more experienced and
discriminating in their use of ICT.
Research and development – particularly
in the area of software – is crucial if RM 
is to remain in the lead.

Offshore development
Offshore development has been part of
our business model for several years. But,
whilst using subcontractors reduces cost,
it doesn’t provide either the educational
focus or staff continuity needed to ensure
the innovation our market demands.

RM Educational Solutions India
During 2003 we opened a software
development facility in India. RM ESI is
already providing a high quality
development team to complement our
UK-based software architects and
educational specialists.

Operating costs in 2003 are lower 
than they were in 2002, as are staff
numbers. This is despite making
investments in bidding for and
commencing delivery of a number of
strategic projects and establishing 
our education services business.

Cost control – and extracting the
maximum value from the Group’s
expenditure and investment – 
will remain a focus for the Group’s
Management Team.

2003:
Delivering Results
Controlling costs

“RM ESI provides the Group with technical staff
who can deliver our educational vision cost
effectively. Driving down the cost of software
development means we can improve the
functionality of our products and dramatically
enhance the value we offer our customers.”

Connell Viegas – Chief Executive Officer, RM ESI
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Customer care
With our continuing customer
satisfaction programme we have turned
customer care from an aspiration to a
fundamental business measure. We now
actively seek feedback about the quality
of our service from every one of our
customers every three months. 

Actively seeking customer
feedback
Through RM.com, or when we reach
them by telephone, customers are asked
to score our service and provide
suggestions about how we can improve
it. In twelve months we have received
11,000 responses and 5,600 improvement
suggestions. And improving customer
satisfaction is a bonus objective for 
our managers.

Building improvement on 
customers’ needs
Customer care issues uncovered by the
programme are dealt with immediately,
and customers’ suggestions form the
basis of our improvement projects.
During 2003 customer satisfaction levels
improved significantly, and our target
has been increased for 2004.

During 2003 efficiency and effectiveness
has improved across the Group.
Productivity levels have increased, 
as has customer satisfaction.

Continually improving business
processes and measuring results 
is part of RM’s culture.

“To make real, sustainable and continuing
improvements in customer satisfaction, customer
care must become a fundamental part of the Group’s
culture. With the continuing customer satisfaction
programme, our customers’ experience has become
a key business measure.”

Joanne Giles – Customer Care Manager

2003:
Delivering Results 
Improving
efficiency and
effectiveness
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The South Yorkshire e-Learning
Programme
In 2001 the four local authorities of
Barnsley, Doncaster, Rotherham and
Sheffield set out a bold vision for 
e-Learning in South Yorkshire. With
funding from the European Regional
Development Fund, the European Social
Fund through Objective 1, the Learning
and Skills Council and Yorkshire 
Forward, the aim was to radically
regenerate the region’s skills base.

Strategic projects in partnership
Our strategic projects team worked
closely with the education community in
the South Yorkshire region through an
extensive pilot phase. Learning from the
experience, a public-private consortium
led by RM put together a proposal that
matched the vision of the South Yorkshire
e-Learning Partnership. 

Education services
In 2003 the RM-led consortium was
awarded a £34.4 million project. The 
scope of the project is wide, taking in the
delivery of skills training as well as the
provision of ICT equipment. It marks a
major step forward in our transition to a
broadly-based education services supplier.

During 2003 we won strategic
projects worth £110 million and
established an education services
business addressing market
opportunities that are completely new
to the RM Group.

Innovation in our culture and business
approach is as important to RM 
now as innovation in our products 
and services.

2003:
Delivering Results 
Identifying areas 
of growth 

“Identifying growth will take RM into new areas of the
education market and will require new ways of
working. In South Yorkshire we listened to our
customers’ needs, and identified an innovative way to
meet them. It has required a new approach in RM and
has seen us working in partnership with public and
private sector organisations.”

Ian Todd – Strategic Projects Director
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Government’s three-year initiative to provide ICT training 
for teachers, which reached its planned conclusion during 
the year) was up 17% to a new Group record of £214.3 million
(2002: £182.9 million). 

Order intake for the year was in excess of £300 million, which
is another Group record and reflects the strong strategic
projects performance during the year. 

Operating expenses (excluding goodwill amortisation) for 
the year were £45.7 million (2002: £47.2 million). Eliminating
unnecessary expenditure remains a priority for the Group, 
and the small net increase over run rate at the end of 
2002 reflects investment in education services and strategic
project bids.

The Group continues to be strongly cash generative, with cash
inflow from operating activities for the year of £18.6 million.
Net funds at year-end, after the payment of £4.7 million in
initial consideration for the acquisition of Forvus, were up 
£5.7 million to £38.4 million.

The Board will propose at the Group’s AGM on the 28th
January 2004 an increased final dividend of 3.4p (2002: 3.2p),
making the total dividend for the year 4.35p (2002: 4.15p). 
The final dividend will be paid on the 6th February 2004 to
shareholders on the register on the 9th January 2004.

Developing the business Turnover growth during the year 
has been driven by both an improved performance from our
educational ICT business and by good progress in our targeted
areas of growth.

Turnover from our educational schools ICT business grew 
by 11%, which, we believe, is ahead of the market as a whole.
RM remains the clear leader in this market, and this lead 
was extended during the year with the launch of highly
innovative new products such as RM Tablet PC, Kaleidos® 

and ICT Alive™.

Our strategic projects activity made significant progress
during the year, with four major project wins providing an
initial £11 million revenue contribution. As well as reinforcing
our educational ICT business, these projects have allowed 
us to develop further our presence in the broader education
services market. The combination of these projects and a
number of smaller contracts have resulted in an annualised
run rate at year-end in our education services business 
of £15 million.

Chairman’s Statement

John Leighfield
Chairman

2003 has been a year of significant
development for RM plc.The Group’s
schools ICT business has grown faster
than the market as a whole, and our
new growth areas have seen good
progress. Whilst there is much 
more we want to achieve, we are on
the way to establishing RM as a
leading provider of broadly-based
education services.

Results Profit before tax (before goodwill amortisation) was
£8.6 million (2002: £5.0 million profit on the same basis).
Profit after tax was £4.7 million (2002 £4.8 million loss).
Earnings per share (before goodwill amortisation and
assuming a normalised long-term tax rate of 28%, which
takes into account anticipated research and development 
tax credits) were up 82% to 6.9p (2002: 3.8p excluding
exceptional charges). 

The Group’s turnover for the year was up 6.6% at £215.5
million (2002: £202.2 million). Turnover excluding Learning
Schools Programme (the Group’s response to the
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We are also continuing our strategy of making carefully
targeted acquisitions of successful companies with expertise,
intellectual property and established businesses that can 
add value in our target markets. 

Customers Ultimately the Group’s success – and its ability to
deliver good performance for its shareholders – depends on
us providing our customers with the highest levels of service. 

Our focus for the year has been on improving customer
satisfaction and I believe we have made good progress in 
this area, with customer satisfaction scores improving. 
A review of our customer satisfaction approach is included 
in Tim Pearson’s Operating Review.

People A significant part of our investment in improving the
business is an investment in developing and motivating our
staff. I thank all of our staff for their contribution and I am
pleased that the Group’s successes have allowed us to pay
bonuses to them this year. We have also continued to invest 
in high quality training, particularly in the areas of customer
satisfaction and management skills.

The previous year, 2002, had been a difficult year for our staff.
However, in 2003 the senior management team has been
effective in communicating the direction, values and
objectives of the business, and all our staff have responded
positively and with great commitment. There has been a
marked improvement in morale, with staff turnover dropping
to an annualised rate of 12.7% at year-end. 

I am pleased to welcome the fifty-strong team at RM
Educational Solutions India (RM ESI) to the Group. We have
made it clear to our UK permanent staff that it is not our
intention to replace them with workers in India. However, 
we have already transferred contract and subcontract work 
to RM ESI and we believe that the cost savings offered by 
the RM ESI team will be essential if we are to transform 
the educational value our products and services offer to 
our customers. 

Board John Windeler joined the Board at the beginning of the
year and, together, he, Sherry Coutu (our Senior Independent
Director) and Sir Bryan Carsberg have provided wise counsel,
constructive criticism and support throughout the year. 

Mike Fischer and Mike O’Regan, both of whom are 
involved with significant education improvement projects in
disadvantaged areas, have continued to offer excellent advice
– both on managing the business and on educational
improvement.

Professor Tim Brighouse stood down as a Non-Executive
Director during the year following his appointment as London
Schools Commissioner. The Nominations Committee is
working to identify a new Non-Executive Director with
educational experience to offer the same kind of inspiration
and insights that he brought to the Board. However, the 

+6.6%
Group Turnover for the year was up 6.6%
at £215.5 million (2002: £202.2 million).

+17%
Turnover excluding Learning 
Schools Programme was up 17% to 
a new Group record of £214.3 million 
(2002: £182.9million).

>£300m
Order intake for the year was in excess 
of £300 million, another Group record.

Group continues to benefit from Professor Brighouse’s
educational expertise through RM’s Education Advisory
Council, which he chairs. 

Executive Committee The Group’s Executive Committee 
of Tim Pearson, Mike Greig (Group Finance Director) and 
Rob Sirs (Group Director – Products and Services) was 
joined during the year by Tony Dale (Group Director – Sales 
and Marketing). Tony joined us from IBM Global Services 
and brings with him significant customer relationship
management experience and a blue chip company sales 
and marketing background. 

Prospects We enter 2004 a much healthier company,
addressing broader market opportunities. However we still
have much to do to reduce our dependency on commodity
ICT products and to increase the educational value of the
products and services we offer to our customers.

The school funding position is clearer than it was when we
reported our Interim results in May 2003. With the DfES
committing to a minimum per-pupil funding increase for
government year 2004/05 intended to fund “unavoidable 
cost pressures”, head teachers will face less uncertainty in
setting their budgets for 2004/05 than they did in 2003/04.
Nonetheless, budget pressures remain, particularly for 
those schools that set deficit budgets for 2003/04. 

2004 will include a full year’s contribution from our two
recent acquisitions. There will also be an increased
contribution from the strategic projects we won during 
2003, with the Classroom 2000 project in Northern Ireland 
in particular contributing significant hardware revenues
during the year. 

We are not expecting the educational ICT market to show 
any significant growth in the next government year. The
opportunity for RM – as it was in 2003 – is to generate 
growth by increasing our share of educational ICT spend 
and by expanding into broader education services markets.

As always at the time of our Preliminary Results
announcement, it is too early in the financial year to give 
an indication of the outcome for 2004. However the Board
believes that RM is well positioned to make further progress.

John Leighfield
21st November 2003
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Chief Executive Officer’s Review

During the year RM has achieved
significant customer satisfaction
improvements, seen a return to
growth in our educational ICT
activities, delivered a number of
highly innovative products, and
made a good start in building an
education services business. 
I’m pleased with the progress we
have made, which has provided a
good platform for RM’s transition 
to becoming a broadly-based
education services business.

Tim Pearson
Chief Executive Officer

Context When I took over as CEO in 2002 we undertook 
a thorough review of RM’s business. The conclusions were
clear: the Group had many strengths but, in a changing
market environment, we needed to rapidly improve our
efficiency and effectiveness and to find new ways of 
serving our education customers in order to return growth 
to our business.

An early action was to reduce the Group’s cost base.
Operating costs in 2003 were significantly below those in the
previous year, and are in line with the run rate established
after our cost reduction exercise in 2002.

Cost control remains important to us, however the focus 
of the business has now turned to improving operational
efficiency and effectiveness and identifying new areas of
growth. These two areas have been the key objectives 
of the business in 2003, and will continue to be for the
foreseeable future.

Underlying our objectives are two principles, we will only
continue to be successful if: 
• We deliver products and services that add real educational

value for our customers;
• We offer ever increasing levels of customer satisfaction.

Continually building the Group’s educational intellectual
property and improving our customer satisfaction are the
key aims for us all.

Education funding We reported at the time of our Interim
Results announcement in May that, following the start of the
government year 2003/04, some schools were facing budget
difficulties. This had less impact on RM than some had feared
possible. In fact, revenues from our individual schools ICT
business saw a year-on-year increase in the second half, with
head teachers continuing to prioritise investment in ICT.
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Looking ahead, the education funding situation for
government year 2004/05 is somewhat clearer. Much of 
the uncertainty in the 2003/04 settlement was due to head
teachers’ expectations of growth not being matched by the
reality of their budgets. For 2004/05 the Department for
Education and Skills (DfES) has provided head teachers with
budget indications much earlier than usual. The DfES has
committed to a guaranteed minimum 4% budget increase 
per pupil for all schools, against an “unavoidable cost
pressure” of 3.4%. There are also plans for a significant
increase in capital expenditure on school buildings over 
the next ten years.

These measures reduce pressures on school budgets.
However, with many schools having to recover the deficit
budgets they set last year, and with the general ICT market
continuing to offer increased value for money, we do not
expect any significant increase in spending on educational 
ICT over the next few years.

Educational ICT The provision of ICT products and services 
to schools remains the majority of RM’s business and we are
the clear market leader in this area. Our aims are to make
this business the best it can be and to become the supplier 
of choice for even more schools, colleges and universities.

The education service looks to the private sector to provide
innovation in educational ICT. RM has a long track record of
taking the best of industry standard technology and adapting 
it for the particular requirements of education. Notable new
areas this year include the RM Tablet PC, integrated digital
video editing systems and support for wireless classrooms.
We have also made significant enhancements to Community
Connect 3™ (our schools networking product) and to our
Broadband connectivity services.

Our customers value our ability to provide them with 
complete integrated solutions that address all of their ICT
requirements. These solutions typically include personal
computer hardware as well as software and support.
Providing such a wide range of products and services is a
strength for the Group as it enables us to take the role of 
an educational establishment’s ICT partner. It also, however,
results in a significant proportion of the Group’s revenue 
and profit arising from the supply of a low margin product 
in a highly competitive market environment. This year both 
the value and volume of our hardware products increased
significantly. We are a highly efficient PC supplier, and we
continue to differentiate our PC range through the addition 
of education specific products such as RM IntelliDesk (an
integrated school desk / PC combination) and the All-in-One
PC (a space saving PC design). We have also made good
progress in the provision of interactive white boards – a
priority area for ICT in schools – with unit volumes growing 
by approximately 70% during the year.

Education software RM’s education software business has
shown growth during the year as a result of the Electronic
Learning Credit (eLC) scheme, which provides dedicated
funding for schools to purchase digital learning resources.
The eLC scheme was put in place by the DfES as part of 
their Curriculum Online strategy, recognising the impact 
of the BBC’s intention to provide free educational content. 
The scheme is worth £100 million per year in each of the
government years 2003/04, 2004/05 and 2005/06. Schools, 
as expected, are substituting eLC funds for money they would
otherwise have spent from their core budgets on this kind of
product. Nonetheless, the scheme has brought much needed
stability to this market.

I am pleased to be able to report a generally positive
conclusion to our campaign in response to the BBC’s Digital
Curriculum plans. The BBC’s proposed new service was
given approval by the Department of Culture, Media and Sport
in January, but with significant constraints designed to
minimise the market impact of the service. Subsequently,
that approval has been reviewed by the European
Commission and further important ground has been gained.
The conditions of the approval have been strengthened, with
the BBC having to provide a fixed, detailed five-year plan of
the areas they will, and won’t, be active in. The European
Commission has also made it clear that the UK government
must ensure that funding is in place to mitigate the BBC’s
market impact. We now view this episode as effectively
closed. We believe our actions have resulted in constraints on
the BBC that will result in a more healthy competitive market
for digital learning resources, which will benefit schools,
pupils and suppliers alike. The existence of a more secure
market means that potential further development investment
may now be justified.

Kaleidos, which is built on the experience of our ground-
breaking MathsAlive™ product positions RM as a significant
provider of managed learning environments (MLEs). MLEs
offer educational establishments a framework for structuring
and delivering digital learning resources. We have established
partnerships with a number of important educational
publishers who will be making their content available to 
work with Kaleidos. 
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RM Education Solutions India It is increasingly clear that
software and computer services companies must have a
strategy for benefiting from the cost savings offered by 
off-shore development facilities. For some years RM has 
used Indian subcontractors. However, whilst this offered some
cost savings, it did not provide either continuity of staff or the
development of RM–specific knowledge and experience.
During the year we established RM Education Solutions India,
our wholly-owned Indian subsidiary. Under the leadership of
Connell Viegas RM ESI now employs 50 people (average age
28) nearly half of whom have a post-graduate qualification. 
We anticipate that RM will employ 100 – 150 people in India 
by the end of 2004.

It is not our intention that our Indian staff directly replace 
any of our current permanent UK staff. However, it is part 
of our plans that the lower costs available in India will be 
an important factor in improving the value we offer to our
customers.

Strategic projects Strategic projects are important to 
RM both because increasing numbers of our educational 
ICT customers are aggregating their business into large, 
multi-year projects, and because education services will
usually take the form of large contracts. However, they 
do require a substantially different model for customer
engagement and product and service delivery. 

We established a dedicated strategic projects team at the
beginning of the year, and it has been successful in achieving
£110 million of long-term business.

• Classroom 2000 – £21 million, five-year contract to provide
infrastructure software and PC hardware to post-primary
schools in Northern Ireland;

• QCA (Qualifications and Curriculum Authority) – 
£23 million, six-year contract to provide a national
eAssessment service for the curriculum subject of ICT at KS3;

• South Yorkshire e-Learning Programme – £34 million, 
four-year project to provide infrastructure and eLearning
services to support adult and school-age learners;

• South Lanarkshire Council – £31 million, seven-year
contract to provide a managed ICT learning and teaching
environment to all learning establishments.

Chief Executive Officer’s Review continued

For the first year a substantial
proportion of RM’s staff have had 
an element of their remuneration
conditional on the Group achieving 
a customer satisfaction target.

Customer satisfaction Customer satisfaction is at the heart 
of what RM does. This is based on the simple conviction that
ensuring our customers receive excellent service is the best
way of providing good results for all of our other stakeholders.

Following the introduction of our continuous customer
satisfaction programme, we now have a clear and current
view of how our customers feel about the service they receive
from RM. We have received 11,000 customer responses and
5,600 individual improvement suggestions. Our survey data
shows that customer satisfaction levels have improved during
the year, but there is scope for improving them even further. 

For the first year a substantial proportion of RM’s staff have
had an element of their remuneration conditional on the
Group achieving a customer satisfaction target. This, together
with clearer management priority, has had a noticeable effect
on the culture and work patterns of the business. I’m pleased
to be able to report that our internal customer satisfaction
improvement targets for the year have been exceeded and 
we have set a more stretching improvement target for 2004.
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Our success in winning strategic project contracts results
from a number of key characteristics. We have good project
management skills, wide ranging experience (including
technical and educational understanding), a strong balance
sheet and a growing ability to work in complex multi-
disciplinary partnerships. With our bidding successes during
2003 we are also building up a significant track record. Our
attention has now turned to successfully replenishing our bid
pipeline and, of course, to executing well the contracts we
have already won.

Education services Our goal is to extend our position as 
the UK’s leading provider of educational ICT products and
services, and become a leading provider of broadly-based
education services. Our priority is to identify professional
services that contribute to improving teaching and learning 
in schools, and which build on the Group’s substantial
education and technology expertise. Education services
remains an emerging market for RM, however we have made
good progress during the year and the business exited the
year with a run rate of approximately £15 million (on an
annualised basis).

Two of our strategic project wins – the South Yorkshire 
e-Learning Programme and the QCA assessment project –
will see the Group providing services that are fundamentally
different from our traditional business. In South Yorkshire, RM
is taking responsibility for providing workforce skills training
as well as for providing products that support e-Learning. For
the QCA we are providing a pioneering eAssessment service,
which will be used to deliver the first national, high stakes test
to be offered online to schools in England.

We have also developed a market-leading understanding 
of the delivery of online professional development through 
our INDIGO Visions service. INDIGO Visions was
commissioned by the DfES and has been developed by 
3T Productions, our interactive and web design company. 

Corporate development There are now seven trading
companies in the RM Group and our management approach
is changing to accommodate this. In the areas of education
services and strategic projects in particular, our success 
will very much depend on exploiting the synergies that exist
between Group companies. Our new acquisitions inherit 
the balance sheet strengths of the Group, which therefore
makes them more attractive as suppliers of long-term, 
high-value projects. In addition, the skills of our traditional
business are complemented by our new subsidiaries, and
together we can engage in projects that would not previously
have been achievable.

During the year the Group was further expanded with the
acquisition of Forvus, a data management and statistical
analysis company, which, amongst other things, provides
school performance tables for the Department for Education
Skills. Since the year-end we have acquired Peakschoolhaus,
an Ofsted inspection company. Both of these acquisitions
bring profitable revenue streams into the Group, as well as
providing expertise and experience, and moving the Group
into new areas.

People The knowledge, skills and experience of our
employees are major assets to RM. A high proportion of 
RM’s staff have had degree level education, and we have also
attracted a substantial number of people who have previously
worked in the education profession. 

Ensuring that we attract, retain and motivate high quality
people is enormously important to RM. We employ rigorous
selection processes and all staff participate in an annual
appraisal process designed to identify both their capabilities
and their development needs. For the first time in 2003 we
have put in place a process for ensuring that all staff have
stretching and achievable objectives that are directly aligned
with the top-level objectives for the Group as a whole. 
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Chief Executive Officer’s Review continued

Our top-level objectives are published, and the management
team regularly reports to staff on how well we are doing in
achieving them. All staff are invited to an annual company
briefing at which the management team share the Group’s
successes and communicate the challenges facing us. We
also work hard to take the needs, concerns and aspirations of
our staff into account through formal surveys and informal
communication.

On a personal note, I am very pleased to see that the Group’s
Sports and Social committee has been responsible for a
number of highly successful fund raising events in support 
of Macmillan Cancer Relief during the year. This is especially
so as I have recently lost several colleagues to cancer. 

Looking ahead RM has made real and sustainable progress
during year, we have returned to growth both in revenues 
and profits and we are offering our customers improved
service levels.

Our success will come from continuing
to increase market share and driving
forward our chosen areas of growth.

I am determined that we should not be complacent however.
Much of our business remains within a generally flat long-
term ICT market with growing competition. We need to
continue to get stronger to succeed in this environment, by
being more relevant to our customers. Our success will come
from continuing to increase market share and driving forward
our chosen areas of growth.

Our objectives now are to enhance our position as the
preferred ICT partner for UK education, and to secure further
growth by increasing our share of the educational ICT market
and by becoming a much more broadly-based educational
services business.

Tim Pearson
21st November 2003
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Group Finance Director’s Review

Turnover and Profits Group turnover for the year was up 
7% to £215.5 million. As expected the Learning Schools
Programme (LSP) closed during the year and turnover
excluding this programme increased by 17% or £31.4 million
to a record of £214.3 million. Of this increase, £11 million was
derived from the four strategic project contracts won during
the year. Each segment of RM’s business: infrastructure
software and services, hardware and education software and
services (excluding LSP) delivered turnover growth. The
second half turnover of £130.1 million was also a record for
the Group and reflected growth in the core educational ICT
business as well as turnover from the strategic projects. 

Where there are separable elements within the strategic
contracts each element is accounted for using the relevant
Group revenue recognition policy for that element. Where
there are bundled elements in the contract, then these are
accounted for as long-term contracts using SSAP 9 “Stocks
and Long-Term Contracts”. Under this standard turnover is
recognised in proportion to work done, whilst profit is only
recognised when the outcome of the contract can be
assessed with reasonable certainty. This treatment is
consistent with the latest guidance issued by the Accounting
Standards Board in November 2003 (Application Note G
”Revenue Recognition” on FRS 5 “Reporting the Substance 
of Transactions”).

The increasing proportion of the Group’s business derived
from strategic projects and other long-term contracts means
that gross profit percentage is now less significant as an
indicator of Group performance. Gross profit percentage for
the year was 24.7% compared to 25.3% last year. Excluding
the strategic projects on which no gross profit has yet been
recognised, the margin was 26.1%. Margins on hardware
declined reflecting the competitive pricing of the Group’s offer
and an increased proportion of lower margin mobile PC’s.

Total operating expenses for this year, excluding goodwill
amortisation, were £45.7 million compared to £47.2 million 
a year earlier. This reflects the full year benefit of the cost
reduction actions taken half way through the previous year.
Research and development expenditure reduced from £13.8
million to £11.7 million, reflecting a decrease in investment 
in education software and the completion of the Community
Connect 3 development.

Mike Greig
Group Finance Director

2003 was a year of good progress.
Turnover has increased particularly
from our core educational ICT
markets. We started to deliver the
four significant strategic projects
won during the year, we have made
progress in broadening our business
into educational services and we are
starting FY2004 with a record order
book and in excess of £25 million of
deferred revenue.
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Profit on ordinary activities before taxation and amortisation of
goodwill was £8.6 million (2002: £5.0 million, before last year’s
exceptional administration charges). Profit after taxation was
£4.7 million (2002: loss £4.8 million).

Cash flow The Group continues to be strongly cash generative.
The net cash inflow from operating activities was £18.6 million
and was, for the seventh year in succession, more than 100%
of operating profit before goodwill amortisation. 

Balance sheet Intangible fixed assets increased by 
£3.6 million during the year to £10.8 million. Goodwill of 
£6.3 million arose on the acquisition of SIR (UK) Limited
(trading as Forvus Computer Services) and there was an
amortisation charge of £2.7 million. The net book value of
tangible fixed assets declined by £3.1 million as the
depreciation charge of £7.8 million significantly exceeded net
capital expenditure of £4.4 million. Capital expenditure was
tightly controlled. An employee share trust has been
established and funded by the Group to purchase RM plc
shares on the open market in order to hedge future
obligations in respect of shares awarded under the RM plc
Co-Investment Plan. Under current accounting standards
these shares are included within fixed assets at cost.

Stocks were £3.8 million higher than a year earlier as a result
of purchases made for specific customer orders. Closing cash
and short term deposits increased by £1.5 million reaching
£40.6 million and after deducting loan notes, closing net funds
were £5.7 million higher at £38.4 million. Minimum net funds
balances during the year were £18.6 million. Average net
funds for the year were £31.5 million.

Deferred income representing customer payments in advance
for annually contracted and other services was £25.7 million
(2002: £20.3 million) and is included in creditors.

Tax and Treasury The tax charge for the year was £1.5
million representing an effective rate of 18% of profit before
amortisation of goodwill compared to 28% last year and 
the UK standard rate of 30%. Under Financial Reporting
Standard 19 the Group has recognised a deferred tax asset 
of £1.1 million.

The Group benefited from a one off tax credit of £0.9 million
relating to the release of prior year’s tax provisions following
the settlement of certain matters with the Inland Revenue.

The Group has also benefited from the full year effect of the
enhanced deduction for qualifying research and development
expenditure that was introduced from 1st April 2002. It is
expected that the tax rate next year will be approximately
28% as a result of the continuing benefit of the research and
development tax credit. An additional earnings per share
figure has been provided based upon a 28% tax charge as the
Board believes this provides a more representative indication
of the performance of the Group.

The Board approves significant treasury transactions and
reviews treasury policy on a regular basis. It is the Group’s
policy to invest its surplus cash, which is held predominantly
in Sterling, with a defined list of institutions approved by 
the Board. 

Risks RM’s Board has an active risk management policy,
which identifies key risks to the business and puts in place
strategies to reduce their potential impact. A review of the
key risks identified by the Board is included in the Corporate
Governance Report on page 27.

Pensions Following the further extension of the transitional
arrangements for the implementation of FRS 17 “Retirement
Benefits”, the Group has continued to account for its defined
benefit pension scheme using SSAP 24 whilst disclosing
additional FRS 17 information in the notes to the accounts. 

The FRS 17 valuation of the defined benefit scheme that is
now closed to new entrants identified a deficit of £16.7
million (£11.7 million after tax) as at 30th September 2003,
compared to a deficit of £16.9 million (£11.9 million after tax)
a year earlier. Whilst there was a better than expected return
on scheme assets, this was offset by an increase in liabilities
as a result of changes in the inflation and discount rate
assumptions. In addition there was a £4.2 million increase 
in liabilities as a result of the adoption of the more prudent
mortality tables (PMA92-3 & PFA92-3 compared to PMA92 
& PFA92).

During the year employee contributions to the scheme were
increased by 0.25% and various changes to benefits were
introduced. The profit and loss account charge for the 
year was £3.2 million under SSAP 24 and it is expected that 
a broadly similar charge for next year, as a percentage 
of salary costs, will lead to the recovery of the deficit over 
15 years.

Group Finance Director’s Review continued
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Dividends per share
Pence

Shareholders’ and Net Funds
£ million

Shareholders’ Funds 

Net Funds

Acquisitions The Group acquired Forvus Computer Services
in July for an initial consideration of £4.7 million satisfied in
cash with a further £2.5 million payable in December 2006
against which the vendors have provided a warranty should
certain performance targets not be met. Following the year
end Peakschoolhaus Limited was purchased for a maximum
consideration of £2.9 million satisfied by an initial cash
payment of £1.5 million plus loan notes payable in three
years time up to a maximum of £1.4 million conditional upon
the performance of the business over the three-year period.
Both of these were targeted acquisitions that represent
significant milestones in the development of the Group’s
education services business.

Shareholders’ return The mid market share price at the
close of business on 30th September 2002 was 59.5p. During
October 2002 the share price fell and recorded a FY03 low of
49.0p before steadily climbing to a highest mid market price
of 151.5p in September 2003, closing on 30th September
2003 at 149.0p. The market capitalisation of the Group at 30th
September 2003 was £133.7 million (2002: £53.4 million).

The interim dividend of 0.95p was paid to shareholders in 
July and a proposed final dividend of 3.40p brings the total
dividend return to 4.35p per share, an increase of 4.8%. 
Basic and diluted earnings per share measures were 
5.2p and diluted earnings before amortisation of goodwill 
at normalised tax rates was 6.9p per share. The dividend is
covered 1.2 times based upon the combined cash cost of both
the interim and the final dividend of £3.9 million compared to
a total profit after tax of £4.7 million. A dividend yield of 2.92%
is based upon the share price at the close of the year.

The Company did not exercise the authority that it has in
place to buy back up to 10% of the issued share capital
during the year. It will seek re-approval of this authority at 
the AGM in January 2004.

Accounting policies and presentation The financial
statements have been prepared on the basis of consistent
accounting policies, which the Directors consider are robust,
appropriate and transparent. These are set out in Note 1 to
the financial statements and are in line with those used in
the previous financial year. The Directors regularly review 
the policies that surround revenue recognition as the results
of the Group are sensitive to changes in this area. In light 
of the new contracts that have been won during this year, 
a thorough review of accounting for long-term contracts was
undertaken. This confirmed the continued appropriateness 
of the policies used in accounting for the Dudley PFI project
over the past five years. These are described above under
“Turnover and Profits”. In accordance with UITF 34, 
pre-contract costs are only taken to the balance sheet 
when it is virtually certain that the contract will be won.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions is capitalised in the
consolidated balance sheet as intangible fixed assets. It 
is amortised on a straight line basis over five years. The 
net book value at 30th September 2003 arises from the
acquisitions of 3T Productions Limited, Softease Limited, 
SIR (UK) Limited and the purchase of assets of Helicon
Publishing Limited. 

The Group expenses all research and development
expenditure to the profit and loss account as incurred.

In order to aid the understanding of the underlying
performance of the Group, the profit and loss account
includes analysis of key measures such as operating profit.
Additional earnings per share measures have also been
disclosed including ‘Diluted – before amortisation of goodwill
and exceptional items at normalised tax rates’ as the
Directors believe that these provide information that aids 
the understanding of the Annual report and accounts.

Information systems We continued to invest in our cost
effective, scaleable and secure information systems (IS)
infrastructure. This has enabled RM to improve operational
processes whilst maintaining a very high level of systems
availability and performance. RM’s flexible browser based
business systems applications have continued to exploit the
benefits of a single database that underpins intranet, extranet
and RM.com functionality. This major business asset has
continued to enable fast and low cost delivery of internal and
customer facing systems developments throughout the year,
including enhancements to facilitate delivery of the strategic
projects and other new business activities. The majority of IS
developments are influenced directly by customer satisfaction
feedback. A major investment in a new telephony
infrastructure was complemented by significant
developments of online support and service call systems.
Following these improvements the usage of Support Online
has grown to 160,000 customer sessions per month and over
80,000 articles are retrieved from our technical library per
month. Such initiatives are directly contributing to RM’s
improved customer satisfaction levels. 

Mike Greig
21st November 2003
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Tim Pearson
Chief Executive Officer

Tim Pearson (age 43) was
appointed Chief Executive Officer
in February 2002 having joined the
Board in 1997. He previously 
held the role of Managing Director
– RM Learning and had
responsibility for the Group's
Internet and content strategy.
He joined RM in 1981 and has
held a number of senior technical
and service management
positions. He attended the
Harvard University Business
School Advanced Management
Program. He is past Chairman 
of the Internet Service Provider
Association.

Mike Greig
Group Finance Director 

Mike Greig (age 47) joined RM and
was appointed a Director in 1989.
He is Group Finance Director and
also has responsibility for
information systems and legal
affairs. Prior to joining RM he 
was Finance Director at Case
Group plc. He is a Non-Executive
Director of Comino Group plc, 
a provider of software based
business solutions for
occupational pensions, social
housing and local authorities. He
attended the Harvard University
Business School Program for
Management Development.

John Leighfield CBE
Non-Executive Chairman
(a)(r)(n)

John Leighfield (age 65) was
appointed Non-Executive
Chairman in 1994, having joined
RM as a Non-Executive Director in
1993. Until April 1993 he was
Executive Chairman of AT&T Istel.
He is Chairman of Synstar plc 
and a Non-Executive Director of 
a number of other organisations.
He is Chairman of the Council 
and Pro Chancellor of Warwick
University. He is past President of
both the BCS and the CSSA and
current President of IMIS.

Mike Fischer
Non-Executive President

Mike Fischer (age 53) was Chief
Executive from 1973, when he 
co-founded RM with Mike
O’Regan, until November 1997.
He is a founder and Chairman of
Alamy Limited, an online provider
of photographic image exchange
for people trading web images.
He is also a former Non-Executive
Director of Madge NV, a networking
products group quoted on
NASDAQ. He is a trustee of the
Fischer Family Trust and the
Oxford Maritime Trust.

Board of Directors 

(a) Audit Committee Member
(r) Remuneration Committee Member
(n) Nominations Committee Member
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Sherry Coutu
Senior Non-Executive Director
(a)(r)(n)

Sherry Coutu (age 39) was
appointed to the Board as a 
Non-Executive Director in 1999.
An entrepreneur, she founded
Interactive Investor International
plc and ISI Emerging Markets.
The former was floated on the
London and NASDAQ markets
and the latter was acquired. She
is President of the HBS Global
Leadership Forum, a Non-
Executive Director of Harvard
Business School Alumni Board,
several private company boards, 
a founder of the Princes Trust
Technology Leadership Group and
a part-time lecturer at the London
Business School.

John Windeler
Non-Executive Director 
(a)(r)(n) 

John Windeler (age 60) was
appointed to the Board as a Non-
Executive Director in October
2002. He is Chairman of Alliance
& Leicester plc and a Non-
Executive Director of BMS
Associates Ltd. Previously he 
was with Irving Trust for 20 years,
becoming an Executive Vice
President in 1983. He also held
several senior positions within
National Australia Bank, between
1989 and 1994. He has a BA in
English and an MBA in Finance,
both from Ohio State University.

Michael O’Regan OBE
Non-Executive Director 
(a)

Mike O’Regan (age 56) co-founded
RM in 1973 and has been a Non-
Executive Director since 1992. 
He is a Non-Executive Director 
of the three Oxford Technology
Venture Capital Trust PLCs. In
addition he is Chair of Hamilton
Trust, an educational charity, joint
Director of its Hamilton Maths and
Reading Projects and a trustee of
PEEP, a national pre-school
parent-support programme he
formed in 1994, and of three other
educational trusts.

Sir Bryan Carsberg
Non-Executive Director 
(a)(r)(n)

Sir Bryan Carsberg (age 64) 
was appointed to the Board as a
Non-Executive Director in
September 2002. He was a 
Non-Executive Director of Nynex
Cablecomms/Cable & Wireless
Communications plc from 1996 
to 2000. He is Chairman of the
Pensions Compensation Board, 
a Non-Executive Director of SVB
Holdings, a former Director
General of OFTEL and a former
Director General of Fair Trading.
He is Chairman of Council and
Senior Pro-Chancellor of
Loughborough University. He
served as Secretary General of 
the International Accounting
Standards Committee from 
1996 to 2001.
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The Directors present their report on the affairs of the
Company (RM plc) and its subsidiary undertakings 
(together the Group, or RM) and the consolidated financial
statements and auditors’ report for the year ended 
30th September 2003.

1. Principal activities and business review
The principal activities of the Group are the supply of
information and communications technology (ICT) software,
systems and services to UK educational establishments 
and the delivery of education services. A review of the
Group’s activities and its prospects for the forthcoming 
year is contained in the Chairman’s Statement and Chief
Executive Officer’s Review.

2. Results and dividends
The Group’s profit for the year, after taxation, was £4,675,000
(2002: £4,819,000 loss). The Directors recommend the
payment of a final dividend of 3.40p bringing the total
dividend for the year to 4.35p per share (2002: 4.15p). The
final dividend is payable on 6th February 2004 to
shareholders on the register on 9th January 2004.

3. Research and development
The Group undertakes a programme of research and
development with the objective of making significant
technical advances to enhance the performance of existing
product areas, to develop new products related to existing

markets, and to enhance access to potential new markets.
This activity involves an appreciable element of innovation.
Expenditure of £11,729,000 was incurred in 2003 (2002:
£13,836,000). All research and development costs are
written off in the year in which they are incurred.

4. Directors and their interests
The names of the current Directors of the Company are
given on page 18. In addition T.R.P. Brighouse was a Director
until 1st January 2003, when he stood down to take up the
appointment of London Schools Commissioner.

The interests of the Directors of the Company in the issued
share capital of the Company (including interests in share
options) are shown in the Remuneration Report on pages 
38 and 39.

No Director of the Company was materially interested in 
a contract of significance (other than a service contract)
involving the Company or any of its subsidiary undertakings
during the year.

5. Directors’ attendance
In 2003 the Board met formally ten times as one of the
scheduled meetings was cancelled. The number of Board
and Committee meetings attended by the Directors during
the year was as follows:

Directors’ Report

Main Audit Remuneration Nominations
Board Committee Committee Committee

Total no. of meetings held 10 3 5 1

Executive
Tim Pearson 10 N/a N/a N/a
Mike Greig 9 N/a N/a N/a

Non-Executive
John Leighfield 10 3 5 1
Mike Fischer 8 N/a N/a N/a
Mike O’Regan 10 3 N/a N/a
Sherry Coutu 9 3 5 1
Bryan Carsberg 9 3 5 1
John Windeler 9 2 3 1
Tim Brighouse 3 N/a 1 N/a
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6. Directors proposed for reappointment
Two Directors are retiring and offering themselves for 
re-election. Mike Greig and Mike O’Regan are retiring as,
under the Articles of Association, one third of all Directors
are required to do so each year. This is done on a rotational
basis unless a Director has been appointed during the year.
The Directors who are proposed for re-election at the next
annual general meeting have either a letter of appointment
or service contract that expire as follows:

Director Expiry date

Mike O’Regan – Letter of appointment 18th October 2004
Mike Greig – Service contract One year notice period

Biographical details for each of these Directors are on 
page 18.

7. Annual general meeting
The annual general meeting of the Company will take place
at 2.00pm on 28th January 2004 at 140 Milton Park,
Abingdon, Oxon OX14 4RS.

In addition to the routine business of the meeting there are
two ordinary resolutions and two special resolutions. The
first ordinary resolution is to approve the RM plc 2004
Executive Share Option Plan and to authorise the Directors
to do all such acts and things as may be necessary or
desirable to carry the same into effect. The second ordinary
resolution is to approve the Board Report on Remuneration
contained in the Company’s Report and Accounts.

The first special resolution proposes that (a) in accordance
with Section 80 of the Companies Act 1985, the Directors be
granted authority to issue shares in the capital of the
Company up to a nominal amount of £597,945 (33.33% of the
issued share capital as at 21st November 2003) and (b) that,
pursuant to Section 95 of the Companies Act, the Directors
be authorised to allot further shares for cash, by way of a
rights issue, and, other than by way of a rights issue, up to
an aggregate amount of £89,701 (5.0% of the nominal value
of the issued share capital as at 21st November 2003). The
Directors have no present intention of allotting further
ordinary shares other than in connection with employee
share schemes. The authorities being sought expire on the
date of the next annual general meeting or, if earlier, 
28th April 2005. The second special resolution proposes
authorising the Company to make market purchases of up
to 10% of its issued share capital. This authority will expire
on the date of the next annual general meeting or on 
28th April 2005, whichever is the earlier. The Company will
only exercise this authority where it reasonably believes that
repurchasing its shares will increase earnings per share and
is in the best interests of shareholders generally.

8. Substantial shareholdings
On 21st November 2003 the following were registered as
being interested in 3% or more of the Company’s ordinary
share capital:

Number Percentage
of shares held

Schroder Investment Management 22,206,256 24.76%
Fidelity International Ltd 7,212,490 8.04%
M.D. Fischer 4,272,190 4.76%
Legal & General 3,256,393 3.63%
M.R.H.J. O’Regan 2,970,000 3.31%
Barclays PLC 2,969,234 3.31%

9. Acquisition of the Company’s own shares
Further to the shareholders’ resolution at the EGM on 
6th November 2002, the Company purchased no shares
(2002: 4,680,088 shares) during the year.

At the end of the year, the Directors had authority, under the
shareholders’ resolution of 6th November 2002, to purchase
through the market 8,970,079 of the Company’s ordinary
shares, being 10% of the issued share capital, at prices
ranging between the nominal value and an amount equal to
5% above the average of the middle market quotations of
the Company’s ordinary shares for the 5 business days
immediately preceding the day on which such share is
contracted to be purchased. This authority expires at the
conclusion of the 2004 AGM or on 6th February 2004,
whichever is the earlier. The Directors will be seeking to
renew this authority at the next AGM.

10. Audit Committee
The Audit Committee operates under terms of reference
approved by the Board, with the purposes of:

• appointing the Group’s internal and external auditors;
• reviewing the performance of and relationship with the

Group’s external auditors (including considering fee levels
and the provision of non-audit work);

• reviewing the performance of the Group’s internal audit
function;

• reviewing the Group’s financial reporting and internal
control processes.

(a) Composition and qualifications of the Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises Sir Bryan Carsberg
MSc(Econ), FCA (Chair), John Leighfield, Sherry Coutu
MSc(Econ), MBA, John Windeler MBA and Mike O’Regan.
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Sir Bryan Carsberg, Sherry Coutu and John Windeler are
independent Directors under the terms of the Combined
Code. John Leighfield and Mike O’Regan are not deemed to
be independent under the terms of the code, however the
Board believes that the presence of three independent 
Non-Executive Directors, combined with the particular
experience offered by John Leighfield and Mike O’Regan,
satisfies the requirement for a strongly independent 
Audit Committee.

Mike Greig FCMA (Group Finance Director) and John Patey
FCCA (Group Chief Accountant and Head of Internal Audit)
are invited to attend Audit Committee meetings.

(b) Schedule of meetings
The Audit Committee met three times during the year. Two
of these meetings were part of the regular schedule of
meetings set out in the Committee’s terms of reference.

Details of attendance at Audit Committee meetings is 
as follows: Sir Bryan Carsberg, three meetings; 
John Leighfield, three meetings; Sherry Coutu, three
meetings; John Windeler, two meetings; and Mike O’Regan,
three meetings.

Audit Committee meetings have formal agendas, which
cover all of the areas of responsibility set out in the
Committee’s terms of reference. These agendas include
meetings with the external auditors without Executive
Directors or managers of the Company present.

(c) Appointment of external auditors
The Audit Committee recommended, and shareholders
approved at the Group’s AGM on the 29th January 2003, 
the appointment of Deloitte & Touche as the Group’s
external auditors.

(d) Internal audit
The Audit Committee has approved the appointment of 
RM’s Group Chief Accountant (John Patey FCCA) as Head 
of Internal Audit. The Audit Committee, with the advice and
support of the Head of Internal Audit, sets an internal audit
plan. The Head of Internal Audit reports on progress against
this plan at Audit Committee meetings.

(e) Policy on non-audit work
The Audit Committee has considered the issue of the
provision of non-audit work by the external auditor and, in
March 2003, agreed a policy intended to ensure that the
objectivity of the external auditor is not compromised. This
policy limits the amount of non-audit activity undertaken by
the external auditor, and requires that any significant 
activity is approved, in advance, by at least two Audit
Committee members.

11. Equal opportunities
RM is an equal opportunities employer. Applications for
employment are always fully considered irrespective of
gender, ethnic origin, race, religion, sexual orientation or
disability. In the event of members of staff becoming
disabled every effort is made to ensure that their
employment continues and that appropriate training is
arranged. It is RM’s policy that the training, career
development and promotion of disabled employees should,
so far as is possible, be identical to that of other employees.

12. Employee involvement
RM is committed to involving all employees in the success
and development of the Company.

All staff participate in annual appraisal meetings, which
assess performance and identify personal and professional
development needs. Technical and personal skills training
are provided for staff at all levels in the organisation.
Directors and managers receive training in RM’s key
management methods. Self-instructed learning, through
teaching manuals and computer programs, is used to
provide technical training for support staff. RM also offers a
Learning for Life scheme, which provides encouragement
and funding to employees who wish to follow personal
learning goals.

The Group has an open communications policy designed to
involve staff and keep them informed about the performance
of the business and about matters affecting them as
employees. Employees receive news about the Group and its
operations through formal and informal briefing meetings,
frequent email notices, internal noticeboards, and through
RMI (the Group’s corporate intranet service). All office-based
staff employees, including directors and managers, share
open plan office accomodation, which provides good
opportunities for informal communication about issues
concerning the Group’s operations and development.

All staff share in the Group’s success through an element of
performance-related pay and through the allocation of
shares under the RM plc 2002 Staff Share Scheme. Share
option schemes and a long-term incentive plan (the RM 
Co-investment Plan) are an important factor in recruiting,
retaining and motivating senior staff.

RM’s employment policies are the responsibility of Sherry
Coutu, Board Director.

13. Charitable and political donations
During the year the Group made various charitable
donations totalling £33,000 (2002: £38,000). A further £2,000
was given to locally based community support projects
(2002: £4,000). The Group made no political donations during
the year.

Directors’ Report continued
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14. Social, environmental and ethical matters 
(“SEE”) statement
RM recognises that those businesses that will be successful
in the long term, are those that not only achieve excellent
financial performance, but also deal well with corporate
social responsibility. Although software and computer services
is not a sector recognised for significant environmental
degradation, RM believes that it must take its responsibilities
seriously and ensure effective management. RM has
developed its SEE policy to help ensure that these issues form
an integral part of the Company’s performance and decision
making processes.

In terms of social performance, RM believes that its
responsibilities start with its employees, and the Company 
is committed to protecting and enhancing the health and
safety of all of its employees, and others who may be
affected by its activities.

RM aims to be a considerate and committed member of the
communities in which it operates. Last year RM made
charitable donations totalling £33,000, to various projects.
However, it is the willingness of our employees to get
involved in community projects, assisted through the
Learning for Life scheme, which has played a more
important role in establishing RM’s reputation as a company
that engages widely with the broader community. Learning
sign language, becoming a governor of a local school or
recycling unwanted computers and donating them to
schools in Romania are examples of the community
initiatives which our employees have undertaken.

The Group believes in the principle of continuous
improvement in its environmental performance, and is
therefore committed to avoiding or minimising any adverse
environmental impact arising from RM’s business activities.
Key areas of environmental performance where the Group
has sought to make improvements are in its use of paper
and its car fleet. The size of the car fleet has been
significantly reduced by offering employees who qualify for a
company vehicle a cash alternative. RM has also switched to
a diesel only company car policy. Improving the Group’s use
of paper will be a priority during 2004.

In practical terms, waste reduction, re-use and recycling are
central to the drive to limit RM’s use of natural resources.
Reducing the amount of waste generated and energy and
water consumed is not only one of the keys to improving the
Group’s environmental performance but is also important 
to achieving significant cost benefits. Improving RM’s own
and its key suppliers environmental performance has been
and will remain an on-going management priority. Where
possible, the Group only uses “first and second tier”
suppliers, ie those suppliers who perform to the type of
standard expected from companies with more advanced
CSR policies and supplier audit systems.

Like most businesses of its size, RM is continuing to develop
its ethical policies in line with best practice. As well as the
obvious issues of conforming with all relevant regulations
and legislation, RM is committed to transparency in its
operations. To these ends, it is RM’s policy to communicate
openly about its business practices and to be accountable
for its actions. For example, the Company stringently
enforces a no gifts for individuals policy with all gifts over
£10 being donated to charitable causes.

RM recognises the need to formalise the SEE activities
already undertaken and over the next year intends to
evaluate the most effective way of introducing new initiatives
to build on the Company’s current practice in this area.

Mike Greig, Group Finance Director, is the main Board
Director with responsibility for SEE issues.

15. Relationships with other stakeholders
The Group has a strong commitment to engaging with other
significant stakeholders, particularly educationalists,
education policy makers and non-departmental public
bodies. This engagement takes the form of direct personal
contact, formal surveys and detailed research. The Board is
regularly updated on educational policy matters and Board
members have significant contact with educational
practitioners. RM staff are encouraged to participate in
educational establishments as Governors.

The Board has put in place an Education Advisory Council
(EAC), chaired by Professor Tim Brighouse and including
Mike Fischer, Board Director and Mike O’Regan, Board
Director. The EAC has the specific aim of ensuring RM is
kept up to date with educational policy and practice.
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16. Creditors payment policy
The Group agrees terms and conditions for its business
transactions with suppliers. Payment is then made to these
terms, subject to their being met by the supplier. Payment
runs are made on a weekly basis and, wherever possible,
are made using the Bankers’ Automated Clearing Service
(“BACS”). Trade creditor days, which have not been 
adjusted for the seasonal nature of the business of the
Group, for the year ended 30th September 2003 were 
40 days (2002: 32 days) based on the ratio of trade creditors
at the year end to the amounts invoiced by suppliers during
the year.

17. Auditors
On 1st August 2003, Deloitte & Touche transferred their
entire business to Deloitte & Touche LLP, a limited liability
partnership formed pursuant to the Limited Liability
Partnership Act 2000. The Company gave its consent to
treating the appointment of Deloitte & Touche as extending
to Deloitte & Touche LLP with effect from 1st August 2003
and accordingly the accounts have been signed in the name
of Deloitte & Touche LLP. In accordance with Section 385 of
the Companies Act 1985, a resolution proposing that 
Deloitte & Touche LLP be reappointed as auditors of the
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

By Order of the Board
A.J. Robson
Company Secretary
21st November 2003
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Directors’ responsibilities
United Kingdom company law requires the Directors to
prepare financial statements for each financial year which
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group
and the Company and of the profit or loss of the Group for
that period. In preparing those financial statements, the
Directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and
prudent; 

• state whether applicable accounting standards have been
followed.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time
the financial position of the Group and the Company and to
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply
with the Companies Act 1985. They are also responsible for
the system of internal control, for safeguarding the assets of
the Group and the Company and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregularities.

Compliance with the Combined Code
In June 1988 the Hempel Committee and London Stock
Exchange published the Combined Code on corporate
governance. This combines the Cadbury Code on corporate
governance, the Greenbury Code on directors’ remuneration
and new requirements arising from the findings of the
Hempel Committee.

The Group has complied throughout the year with the
provisions of the code of best practice set out in section 1 
of the Combined Code.

The Financial Reporting Council has published the Combined
Code on Corporate Governance, July 2003, which applies for
reporting years beginning on or after 1st November 2003.
Whilst the July 2003 Code will not apply to RM until the
Group’s financial year starting 1st October 2004, the Group
has endeavoured to report on compliance against it rather
than the 1998 Code.

The Company has complied throughout the year with the
provisions set out in the Combined Code on Corporate
Governance, July 2003 with the following exceptions:

A.3.2 – Two of RM’s Non-Executive Directors (Mike O’Regan
and Mike Fischer – who jointly founded the business and
remain substantial shareholders) are not independent
under the terms of the Code. As a consequence, RM’s
Board, excluding the Chairman, does not have a majority 
of independent Non-Executive Directors. The Chairman
and independent Non-Executive Directors have considered
this matter and concluded that the quality and
independent-minded nature of Mike Fischer and Mike
O’Regan’s contribution to the Board, combined with their
significant experience of educational issues, justifies their
continued membership of it.

B.2.1 – John Leighfield is not considered independent
under the terms of the Code, but is a member of the
Remuneration Committee. The Board unanimously agrees
that John Leighfield’s particular experience, combined with
the need to provide continuity, makes it appropriate for him
to continue to serve on the Remuneration Committee.

C.3.1 – John Leighfield and Mike O’Regan are not
independent Non-Executive Directors under the terms 
of the Code, but are members of the Audit Committee. 
The Board believes that the presence of three independent
Non-Executive Directors, combined with the particular
experience offered by John Leighfield and Mike O’Regan,
satisfies the need to provide a strongly independent 
Audit Committee.

The Company has applied the Principles of Good
Governance set out in section 1 of the Code. Further
explanation of how the Principles have been applied is set
out below and, in connection with directors’ remuneration, 
in the relevant section of the Remuneration Report.

Corporate Governance Report
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Board of Directors
The Board comprises the Chairman, two Executive Directors
and five Non-Executive Directors. Biographies of Board
members are provided on page 18. Non-Executive Directors
are appointed for a fixed term, subject to re-election. They
can serve a maximum of three terms.

John Leighfield, the Group’s Chairman, is not considered
independent under the terms of the Code because he has
served on the Board for more than nine years. He was
independent at the time of his appointment. Three of the
Group’s Non-Executive Directors (Sherry Coutu, Sir Bryan
Carsberg and John Windeler) are considered independent
under the terms of the Code. Mike Fischer and Mike
O’Regan jointly founded RM and retain substantial
shareholding in the Group, as such they are not independent
under the terms of the Code. Sherry Coutu is the Senior
Non-Executive Director.

The Board has formally adopted a schedule of matters that
are brought to it for discussion and decision. This schedule
includes overall Group strategy, acquisition policy, internal
controls, major capital investment and risk management,
and is intended to ensure that the Board maintains full and
effective control over appropriate strategic, financial and
compliance issues and oversees operational activities. The
Board delegates the operational management of the Group
to the Executive Committee.

There is an established procedure for all Directors to take
independent professional advice, at the expense of the
Group, as necessary in the pursuit of their duties.

Board meetings
There is a formal schedule of eleven Board meetings a year.
Board members also receive updates about Group 
activities by email, and communicate informally by
telephone and email.

Directors receive a detailed information pack one week
before each Board meeting, which contains background
papers on all the agenda items. Executive managers are
regularly invited to Board meetings to present and discuss
strategic topics with the Directors.

As required by the July 2003 Code, the Board intends in
future to schedule meetings of the Non-Executive Directors
without the Executive Directors present and an annual
meeting of the Non-Executive Directors without the Group
Chairman present.

Board effectiveness
The Board has put in place a formal process for annually
reviewing its effectiveness and the effectiveness of its
Committees. This review, which operated for the first time
this year, is led by the Chairman and uses a process agreed
by the Board as a whole. Each Board member provides an
individual evaluation of performance against a series of
criteria, and these evaluations are then used as the basis of
a collective discussion.

This year’s review concluded that the Board operates
effectively in most respects, but there are opportunities for
improvement. An action plan has been put in place to
achieve these improvements, and the Board will review
progress against this plan during 2004.

It is intended that in future years the annual effectiveness
review will include an assessment of the performance of
individual members of the Board as well as the Board 
as an entity.

Board Committees
There are three Board Committees, namely Audit,
Remuneration and Nominations, all of which comprise
solely Non-Executive Directors.

The Audit Committee is chaired by Sir Bryan Carsberg and
comprises the Group Chairman, three independent 
Non-Executive Directors and one non-independent 
Non-Executive Director. It meets at least twice a year. The
Company’s external auditors, the Group Finance Director
and the Head of Internal Audit normally attend part of these
meetings. The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing
the accounting policies, internal control assessment and the
financial information contained in the Annual and Interim
Reports. It provides an opportunity for the Non-Executive
Directors to make independent judgements and
contributions thus furthering the effectiveness of RM’s
internal financial controls. Further details of the Audit
Committee’s activities are given in the Directors’ Report.

Corporate Governance Report continued
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The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Sherry Coutu
and comprises the Group Chairman and three independent
Non-Executive Directors. It meets at least twice a year.
Executive Directors and senior managers may be invited 
to attend Committee meetings, but will not be present
during any discussion of their own pay arrangements. 
The Remuneration Committee sets the remuneration of
RM’s Executive Directors and senior management. 
It also considers grants and performance conditions 
under the RM Share Option Schemes and reviews RM’s
employment strategy generally. Further details of the
Remuneration Committee’s activities are given in the
Remuneration Report.

The Nominations Committee is chaired by John Leighfield
and comprises the Group Chairman and three independent
Non-Executive Directors. It meets at least once a year, with
more frequent meetings when the Group is actively selecting
Directors. The Nominations Committee recommends to the
Board, candidates for appointment as Directors. During 2003
the Committee met once to consider how to replace the
educational skills and experience Tim Brighouse brought to
the Board.

Executive Committee
The Executive Committee comprises Tim Pearson (Chair),
Mike Greig, Rob Sirs (Group Director – Products and
Services) and Tony Dale (Group Director – Sales and
Marketing). The Committee, along with the Group’s Human
Resources Director, meets weekly, and Rob Sirs and Tony
Dale attend (as appropriate) some or all of most Board
meetings. The Executive Committee is responsible for
implementing the strategy set out by the Group Board,
preparing strategic proposals to be considered by the 
Board, and providing day-to-day operational management
and control for the business.

Relations with shareholders
RM maintains regular contact with institutional
shareholders, fund managers and investment analysts
through an active investor relations programme.

As part of this programme the Group’s CEO and Group
Finance Director provide detailed briefings for investment
analysts and institutional shareholders at the time of the
Group’s Interim and Preliminary Results announcements;
hold regular meetings with analysts, institutional
shareholders and fund managers during the year; and
typically host two analyst seminars and two investor
seminars during the year. The Group Chairman attends at
least one Group meeting with investment analysts during
the year.

Private investors are encouraged to participate in the annual
general meeting. In order to improve communications with
investors in general and private investors in particular the
Group maintains a detailed investor relations website at
www.rm.com/investors

The Board is provided with detailed, independently produced
reports providing non-attributable feedback from analysts,
institutional shareholders and fund managers following
results announcements and analyst/investor seminars.
Discussion of these reports is tabled as a formal agenda
item at Board meetings. The Board is also provided with
regular updates about investor relations activities and
receives Analysts’ notes about RM as they are published.

RM has identified a senior manager (the Director of Investor
Relations) with responsibility for managing the Group’s
investor relations programme.

Internal control
The Combined Code introduced a requirement on Directors
to review at least annually the effectiveness of the Group’s
system of internal control and to report to shareholders that
they have done so. The Board attaches considerable
importance to the Group’s systems of internal control and
risk management and can confirm that, throughout the
period covered by these accounts and up to the date of their
approval, they have regularly reviewed these areas in
accordance with the Turnbull Guidance.

Following the publication of the “Internal Control Guidance
for Directors on the Combined Code” – the Turnbull
Guidance – the Board and the Audit Committee have
reviewed annually the process of risk management and
internal control within the Group. The Board carries out an
analysis to identify the major risks that affect the Group, the
impact of those risks and considers how those risks are
managed. The Group has appointed a Group Risk Manager
who has continued this work and developed the Group’s
approach towards risk management which includes taking
action to avoid or reduce each risk.

The Group’s internal controls are designed to meet the
particular requirements of the Group and the risks to which
it is exposed. In this context, the controls can provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The internal controls are designed to
manage rather than eliminate risk.
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The processes to identify, assess and manage the risks to
the Group’s continued success are an integral part of the
system of internal control. These processes include systems
to assess operational risks, linkage with the business
planning process, monthly forecasting, appointment of
senior managers and controls over capital expenditure.
Enhancing and improving these processes ensures that
business risks and opportunities are effectively managed.
Key risks are identified in the statement of risks section
within this report.

Strategic risks are formally assessed by the Board during
the annual planning process and steps are taken following
this process to ensure that all such risks are monitored and
managed going forward. The Board delegates responsibility
for operational risks to the CEO and the senior management
team who review the effectiveness of internal controls on
such risks on a regular basis.

The key features of the internal control system that 
operated throughout the period covered by the accounts are
described below.

Control environment – The Board has put in place an
organisational structure with clearly defined lines of
responsibility and delegation of authority to executive
management. Individuals are formally made aware of their
level of authority and their budgetary responsibility which
enables them to identify and monitor financial performance.
There are established policies and procedures, which are
subject to regular review. The Boards of the operating
companies work within strict terms of reference and any
matters outside those terms or their agreed business plans
are referred to the full Board for decision. The Group’s
selection and recruitment procedures are set to exacting
criteria and the performance management process is
supportive of these same criteria.

Identification and evaluation of business risks and control
objectives – The Board has the primary responsibility for
identifying the principal business risks facing the Group and
developing appropriate policies to manage those risks. The
Executive Committee meets weekly with an agenda of
specific operational measures for review.

Information systems – Executive managers are required to
produce a business plan for approval at the beginning of
each financial year and detailed financial forecasts are
formally compiled quarterly and reviewed by the Board.
Management accounts are produced each month and
results measured against plan and previous year to identify
any significant variations.

Main control procedures – The financial systems and
procedures established lead the Board to a high level of
confidence in the completeness and accuracy of financial
transactions. The well established processes in place and
the level of analytical detail given within the management
accounts facilitate the identification of unreliable data. The
Group’s treasury function operates within a defined policy
designed to control the Group’s cash and to minimise its
exposure to foreign exchange risk.

Monitoring – The Board has an established Audit Committee
that meets periodically to review reports from management
and the external auditors so as to derive reasonable
assurance on behalf of the Board that financial control
procedures are in place and operate effectively. An internal
audit function reports directly to the Audit Committee and
has terms of reference agreed by the Audit Committee.

Statement of risks
Amongst the key risks the business is exposed to are:

UK government funding – A high proportion of RM’s revenues
are ultimately derived from UK government sources. Whilst
governments across the world place a high priority on
education, funding levels are subject to periodic variation.

UK education practices – Central government and individual
schools place a high priority on the educational use of ICT,
with computer systems and software and communications
technology now a fundamental part of the fabric of schools,
colleges and universities. Nonetheless, education priorities
could change.

Reputational risk – RM’s continuous customer satisfaction
programme indicates that RM is improving the experience it
offers to customers. However, the majority of the Group’s
revenues in any year come from existing customers, and
remaining focused on providing high levels of customer
satisfaction is a key priority.

Going concern
After making enquiries and taking into account the Group’s
cash resources, the Directors have a reasonable expectation
that the Group has adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this
reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the accounts.

A.J. Robson
Company Secretary
21st November 2003
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This report sets out our remuneration policy, explains the
principles under which our Executive Directors were
remunerated and sets out tables of information showing
details of the remuneration and share interests of all
Directors for the year ended 30th September 2003.

1. Compliance with regulations
This report has been prepared in accordance with the
Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002, which
apply to the Company for the first time this year. The report
also meets the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules 
of the UK Listing Authority and sets out how the principles
of the Combined Code relating to directors’ remuneration
are applied by the Company.

This Report has been approved by the Board and
shareholders will be asked to consider and approve it at the
annual general meeting to be held on 28th January 2004.

The Regulations require that the Group’s auditors comment
on whether the “auditable parts” of the Group’s
Remuneration Report have been prepared in accordance
with the Companies Act 1985 (as amended by the
Regulations). Accordingly, sections 3d), 6, 7, 8 and 10 have
been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP.

2. Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee operates under terms of
reference approved by the Board with the purposes of
determining, on behalf of the Board and shareholders, all
elements of the remuneration of the Group’s Executive
Directors and of overseeing major changes to the overall
benefit structure throughout the Group.

None of the members of the Committee has any personal
financial interest (other than as a shareholder), or is involved
in the day-to-day running of the business.

The fees of Non-Executive Directors are a matter for the
consideration of the Board as a whole.

a) Composition of the Remuneration Committee
RM’s Remuneration Committee comprises Sherry Coutu
(Chair), Sir Bryan Carsberg, John Windeler and John
Leighfield. Professor Tim Brighouse was also a member
until he stood down from the Board on 1st January 2003.

Sherry Coutu, Sir Bryan Carsberg and John Windeler are
independent Non-Executive Directors, as was Professor Tim
Brighouse until he stood down. The Board notes that, under
the terms of the Combined Code, John Leighfield is not
considered an independent Director. The Board unanimously
agrees that John Leighfield’s particular experience,
combined with the need to provide continuity, makes it
appropriate for him to continue to serve on the
Remuneration Committee.

b) Schedule of meetings
The Remuneration Committee met five times during the
year. Two of these meetings were part of the regular
schedule of meetings set out in the Committee’s terms of
reference. Three of the meetings were convened expressly to
develop the Group’s senior executive remuneration strategy,
including the introduction of the RM plc Co-Investment Plan.

Details of attendance at Remuneration Committee meetings
is as follows: Sherry Coutu, five meetings; Sir Bryan
Carsberg, five meetings; John Windeler, three meetings;
John Leighfield, five meetings and Professor Tim Brighouse,
one meeting.

c) Advisers to the Remuneration Committee
During 2003, the Committee asked a number of Group
employees and external experts for their views and advice.

Tim Pearson, RM’s CEO, attends meetings of the
Remuneration Committee by invitation to provide
background and context on matters relating to the
remuneration of the other Executive Directors, but does not
participate in detailed discussions relating to his own
remuneration. The Committee also received views and
advice from Mike Greig (Group Finance Director), Russell
Govan (Human Resources Director) and Andy Robson (Group
General Counsel and Company Secretary).

Independent Remuneration Consultants and
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (including Monks Partnership)
provided advice on the structure of share-based long-term
incentive programmes. Independent Remuneration
Consultants does not provide other services to the Group.
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP was also employed by the
Group to audit RM’s internal customer satisfaction measure.

Linklaters provided legal advice on the detailed rules of the
RM plc Co-Investment Plan. Linklaters provide the Group
with other legal advice, principally in the area of
employment law.

3. Remuneration policy
The objective of the policy is to allow RM to retain, recruit
and motivate the senior executives it needs to improve all
aspects of its performance. To achieve this RM offers
remuneration packages that are competitive in the
marketplace, without being excessive, and that are aligned
with shareholder and other stakeholder interests.
Remuneration for target levels of performance is set at
approximately median level when compared with peer
companies.

Remuneration Report
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The Committee believes that any remuneration received
above median level should be directly related to business
performance, and the remuneration policy is designed to
offer relatively higher levels of reward for superior
performance. Performance conditions are set so that
maximum levels of remuneration require very high levels of
both individual and company performance.

The Committee believes that serving as a Non-Executive
Director on the Board of another company can offer valuable
additional experience to RM’s Executive Directors. Mike
Greig serves as a Non-Executive Director and Chair of the
Audit Committee of Comino Group plc. His remuneration for
this position is disclosed in section 6 of this report.

It is an objective of the Remuneration Policy that all
employees share in the success of the Group. Through the
RM plc 2002 Staff Share Scheme all staff receive shares
annually. A high proportion of staff are eligible for profit-
related annual bonuses and receive some element of
performance related pay conditional on their achievement of
personal objectives. Annual bonuses for more senior staff
are also conditional on the achievement of corporate
objectives. Senior executives are encouraged (through
personal shareholding guidelines) to own shares in RM so
that they are exposed to the same risks and benefits as
those experienced by the Group’s shareholders.

The Remuneration Committee has determined that a high
proportion of Executive Directors’ total remuneration should
be performance related, and that a significant element of
this performance related reward should be provided in the
form of shares. If the Group achieves target levels of
performance, base salaries are likely to account for 50% of
Executive Directors’ total remuneration. Performance
conditions are designed to reward Executive Directors for
delivering an above average total shareholder return (TSR)
in the medium term, for achieving absolute increases in the
Group’s profitability, for increasing RM’s market share and
for improving customer satisfaction levels.

Executive Directors’ remuneration comprises a fixed base
salary, an annual performance related bonus and a long-
term incentive plan (LTIP) linked to the Group’s financial
performance measured over a three-year period. The Group
also uses stock options as a medium-term incentive. In line
with normal industry practice, Executive Directors are
provided with taxable benefits in kind in the form of private
medical insurance, life assurance, permanent health
insurance and a company car (or equivalent cash
allowance).

The chart above shows the make up of the main elements of
Executive Directors’ remuneration packages. Package
elements have been valued using on-target bonus, and
assuming maximum participation in the Co-Invesment Plan.
The matching elements of the Co-Investment Plan have
been valued using economic valuation models (sometimes
known as “expected” value models) that value the match
taking into account the probability of different levels of
achievement of performance conditions and share price
growth. Pensions have been valued using standard actuarial
techniques. The chart is intended to show the broad
package mix rather than what an Executive Director will
actually receive from this year’s remuneration, which will
depend upon the outcome of a number of factors such as
achievement against performance conditions.

The linkage between total remuneration and performance
for Executive Directors is shown in the chart below.

The ‘stretch’ performance scenario assumes maximum
achievement of the annual bonus as a result of exceeding
performance targets for each of the performance conditions
and that the LTIP is participated in to the maximum level 
by the executives purchasing shares from their own funds,
and that ‘scaling back’ for the LTIP occurs in line with 
that in 2003. Both the LTIP and the Option figures assume
that performance conditions are met on all fronts, and that
the share price of the Company doubles over the
performance period.

Remuneration Report continued
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As an illustration of the corporate performance that would
need to be achieved for maximum vesting for the proposed
grant for the 2004 LTIP – over the three year measurement
period a total EPS growth of 74% is required combined with
a TSR performance for the Company over the same period
in the top 5% of all the companies in the FTSE Software 
and Computer Services index.

Note that this chart is meant to be illustrative of the broad
range of potential remuneration over the longer term as, 
for example, the LTIP cannot pay out anything before the end
of 2005.

a) Base salaries
Base salaries are set at approximately median level when
compared with a group of fifteen companies identified as
appropriate peers.

Following the appointment of Tim Pearson as CEO, both Tim
Pearson and Mike Greig requested that their salaries be
reduced by 10% until such time as the Remuneration
Committee agreed that the performance of the business had
improved sufficiently to justify reinstatement. This voluntary
reduction remained in place until the end of August 2003.
The Remuneration Committee thanks these Directors for
making these voluntary sacrifices.

b) Annual bonus
Executive Directors participate in an annual performance-
related bonus scheme, with the level of bonus payment
dependent on performance conditions set by the
Remuneration Committee at the beginning of the year.
Performance targets are selected as being crucial to RM’s
success and set at stretching levels. Targets are set for each
of the performance conditions, and the Group’s performance
against them is independently audited.

For 2003, bonus payments were triggered by the Group
exceeding an EPS target, and the level of the bonus was
determined by the Group’s performance against three
conditions – EPS, increase in market share and
improvement in customer satisfaction.

In line with industry practice Executive Directors can receive
a bonus of up to 60% of their base salary if they have
delivered performance that exceeds the targets. On-target
performance would have resulted in an annual bonus
payment of 35% of base salary, with half of this amount
dependent on the EPS condition, a quarter of it dependent
on increased market share and a quarter of it dependent on
improvements in customer satisfaction levels.

In 2003 both Tim Pearson and Mike Greig received an annual
performance-related bonus of 42.2% of their base salary.

c) Long Term Incentive Plan
It is increasingly accepted practice for senior executives to
participate in a share-based long term incentive plan as part
of their remuneration. The RM Co-Investment Plan was
proposed to and approved by shareholders at RM’s AGM on 
29th January 2003, following consultation with a number of
the Group’s major shareholders. The Plan provides a
performance-related, share-based long-term incentive for
RM’s most senior managers.

Under the Plan senior executives who hold shares in RM will
be granted up to a maximum of three free additional shares
to match each share they hold under the Plan. The level of
the matching grant is dependent on the extent to which the
Group has met or exceeded the performance targets set
under the Plan. Senior executives are allowed to hold shares
under the Plan equivalent to 100% of their base salary.

The shareholder approval for the Plan allows the Group to
operate it in subsequent years. The Remuneration
Committee will consider the appropriateness of the Plan at
the beginning of each year and, if the Plan is to be operated,
set performance conditions relevant to the circumstances
that the Group faces at the time.

The performance conditions for the first operation of the
Plan were approved by shareholders at the Group’s AGM in
January 2003. For the first operation the grant of free shares
is subject to two performance conditions over a three-year
period, with half of the matching shares subject to one
condition and half subject to the other. Both performance
conditions are designed to offer a larger grant for superior
levels of performance.

• The first performance condition is based on the Group’s
absolute EPS performance when compared to the retail
prices index (RPI). If EPS growth exceeds RPI by 5% for
each year in the performance period, one additional share
will be granted. If EPS growth exceeds RPI by 12% for
each year in the performance period, three additional
shares will be granted. For EPS growth between 5% and
12% the Grant will be made on a sliding scale.

• The second performance condition is based on the
Group’s total shareholder return (TSR) relative to
companies in the FTSE 250 index. Free shares under this
performance condition are granted against a stepped
scale. If the Group’s TSR performance at least matches
the average TSR of FTSE 250 companies, a single share is
granted. If the Group’s TSR performance is at least one
standard deviation above the average TSR of FTSE 250
companies (that is, better than approximately 85% of
companies in the FTSE 250), two shares are granted. If
the Group’s TSR performance is at least two standard
deviations above the average TSR for FTSE 250 companies
(that is, better than approximately 95% of companies in
the FTSE 250), three shares are granted.
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In parallel with the Plan, RM has introduced personal
shareholding guidelines for Executive Directors and senior
executives. The Group’s guideline is that each Executive
Director should, over three years, build up a minimum
personal shareholding equivalent to 50% of basic salary
(25% of basic salary for other executives), with the value of
shareholding determined by the market value of the shares
at the time they were acquired.

It is intended that, where possible, awards under the Plan
will be satisfied by market purchases of shares by the RM
plc Employee Share Trust. The cost of providing matching
shares will be charged to the profit and loss account over
the performance period of the Plan. The RM plc Employee
Share Trust was set up with an interest free loan from 
the Company in March 2003, to satisfy awards under the
Plan. The loan to the Trust amounted to £0.7 million at 
30th September 2003 (2002: nil).

d) Share Option Scheme
The Remuneration Committee believes that the grant of
share options to Executive Directors and key employees is
vital in attracting, retaining and motivating high calibre staff
in a competitive market and is an incentive which aligns the
interests of employees and shareholders.

RM share options are not offered at a discount.

The Company operates two executive share option schemes:
the RM plc 1994 Executive Share Option Scheme (the ‘1994
Scheme’), which was adopted shortly after the time of the
Group’s flotation in December 1994; and the RM plc 2001
Executive Share Option Scheme (the ‘2001 Scheme’), which
was adopted at the annual general meeting held on 
24th January 2001.

1994 Scheme
Under the 1994 Scheme, which is now closed, Ordinary or
Super options were granted at market value at the time of
grant and are normally exercisable between three and ten
years from the date of grant, provided that the increase in
the Company’s EPS over a three year period exceed the RPI
by 6% for Ordinary options and 10% for Super options.

2001 Scheme
Under the 2001 Scheme, options are granted at the market
value at the time of grant and are normally exercisable three
years after the date of the grant, provided certain
performance conditions are met. The performance
conditions relate to the Group’s EPS growth relative to the
RPI, with the number of options exercisable varying on a
sliding scale depending on the extent to which EPS exceeds
the RPI. The 2001 Scheme has a life of three years, and
closes in 2004.

Remuneration Report continued
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The performance condition for share options granted in 2003 under the 2001 Scheme takes as a starting point an EPS
(excluding goodwill and before exceptional charges), which was 4.35p. Options will vest as shown in the following table:

Annual compound growth after Actual EPS before adjustment for % of options which 
RPI in EPS RPI for year end 2005 are released

Less than 3% growth per annum – 0%
At 3% growth per annum 4.75 pence 25%
At 12% growth per annum 6.11 pence 75%
At 22% growth or above per annum 7.90 pence 100%

The Group intends to seek shareholder permission for a new share option scheme at its AGM in January 2004.

4. Performance graphs
Two performance graphs are provided showing the Group’s total shareholder return (TSR) on a year-by-year and a
cumulative basis. The Group’s TSR is compared against the TSR of the FTSE 250 index and that of the FTSE Software and
Computer Services index. These indices have been chosen as representing the market sector RM operates in, and a group of
companies broadly similar in market capitalisation to RM over the comparison period.

Along with most software and computer services companies, an investment of £100 in RM shares has decreased in value
over the five year period considered here. However, as the annual TSR graph shows, RM has outperformed both comparators
over the last year.

The line graph above shows the Group’s comparative annual TSR, assuming all dividend income is reinvested, for the five
years from 1st October 1998 to 30th September 2003 compared to the FTSE 250 index and the FTSE Software and Computer
Services index.
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Remuneration Report continued

The line graph below shows the value over five years of £100 invested in RM shares on 1st October 1998, assuming that all
dividend income is reinvested, compared to the FTSE 250 index and the FTSE Software and Computer Services index. £100
invested in RM shares on 1st October 1998 was worth £43.27 on 1st October 2003, assuming that all dividend income was
reinvested. This compares with £35.13 if the investment had been in the FTSE Software and Computer Services index, and
£138.49 if the investment had been in the FTSE 250.

5. Directors’ service contracts and letters of appointment
The Committee’s policy on Executive Director’s service contracts is for them to contain a maximum notice period of one year.
All Executive Director’s service contracts can be terminated on one year’s notice. Each service contract expires at the
respective normal retirement date of the Director, but is subject to earlier termination for cause or if notice is given under the
contract. The contracts are designed to allow for flexibility to deal with each case on its own particular merits in accordance
with the law and policy as they have developed at the relevant time. With effect from 2003, the Committee will include a
provision in new service contracts to allow for severance payments to be phased where appropriate to do so. It will also
consider mitigation to reduce compensation to a departing director.

a) Tim Pearson
Tim Pearson has a service contract, dated 15th February 2002, which provides for twelve months notice on the part of the
Company and six months by the Director. The contract ends automatically when Tim Pearson reaches the normal retirement
age of 65. Under the terms of his contract, the Company may at its sole and absolute discretion pay salary in lieu of any
required period of notice.

b) Mike Greig
Mike Greig has a service contract, dated 24th November 1994, which provides for twelve months notice on the part of the
Company and six months by the Director. The contract ends automatically when Mike Greig reaches the retirement age of 60.
Under the terms of his contract, the Company may at its sole and absolute discretion pay salary in lieu of any required period
of notice.
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c) Chairman and Non-Executive Directors
The Chairman and the Non-Executive Directors do not have service contracts with the Company. Their appointments are
governed by letters of appointment, which are for a specified term. Each Non-Executive Directors date of appointment as a
Non-Executive Director of the Company and most recent date of reappointment is shown below:

Date of appointment as a Date of last Specified
Non-Executive Director reappointment term

J.P. Leighfield 3rd November 1993 1st May 2002 3 years
S.L. Coutu 18th October 1999 18th October 2001 3 years
M.D. Fischer 22nd November 1997 22nd November 2002 3 years
M.R.H.J. O’Regan 30th September 1992 18th October 2001 3 years
B. Carsberg 1st September 2002 – 2 years
J.R. Windeler 1st October 2002 – 3 years

Prior to their appointment dates both Mike Fischer and Mike O’Regan (co-founders of Research Machines Ltd) were
Executive Directors of RM plc.

6. Directors’ remuneration
The total amount for Directors’ remuneration and other benefits were as follows:

2003 2002
£000 £000

Emoluments 729 703
Money purchase pension contributions 17 18

746 721

Directors’ emoluments in respect of the Directors of the Company who served during the year ended 30th September 2003
were as follows:

Fees and
other Taxable Annual 2003 2002

Name remuneration benefits bonuses Total Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Executive
T.R. Pearson 215 – 95 310 215
M.D. Greig* 148 – 64 212 165
R.A.G. Girling – – – – 161
Non-Executive
J.P. Leighfield 52 22 – 74 65
S.L. Coutu 23 – – 23 36
M.D. Fischer 16 16 – 32 32
M.R.H.J. O’Regan 20 – – 20 16
B. Carsberg 33 – – 33 2
J.R. Windeler 20 – – 20 –
T.R.P. Brighouse 5 – – 5 –
M.W. Burrell – – – – 11

532 38 159 729 703

*Mike Greig received and retained £17,000 in respect of his position as a Non-Executive Director of Comino Group plc.
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Remuneration Report continued

7. Directors’ long-term incentive plan
The Directors’ interests in the long-term incentive plan are listed below.

Maximum potential
number of Market price Performance period

Date of award matching shares* on award date for matching shares

T.R. Pearson 26th March 2003 162,597 107.5p 01/10/02 – 30/09/05
M.D. Greig 26th March 2003 111,198 107.5p 01/10/02 – 30/09/05

*The number of matching shares is the maximum (a match of 1:3) that could be received by the Director if performance
conditions outlined in the policy section are fully met.

8. Directors’ share options
The Directors’ interests in share options are listed below:

Number of options over ordinary shares Market
of 2p each in RM plc price at Date from

At Granted Exercised At Exercise date of which Expiry
01/10/02 in year in year 30/09/03 price exercise exercisable date

T.R. Pearson
70,000 Nil Nil 70,000 £1.475 – 17/02/00 17/02/07
31,667 Nil Nil 31,667 £2.933 – 20/05/01 20/05/08
21,750 Nil Nil 21,750 £4.415 – 04/12/01 04/12/08
40,002 Nil Nil 40,002 £5.000 – 21/05/02 21/05/09
17,500 Nil Nil 17,500 £7.615 – 06/12/02 06/12/09
36,000 Nil Nil 36,000 £5.600 – 24/05/03 24/05/10
24,000 Nil Nil 24,000 £5.450 – 26/02/04 26/02/11
24,000 Nil Nil 24,000 £5.225 – 30/05/04 30/05/11
54,000 Nil Nil 54,000 £2.500 – 29/11/04 29/11/11

204,637 Nil Nil 204,637 £0.715 – 21/06/05 21/06/12
Nil 99,940 Nil 99,940 £0.785 – 04/12/05 04/12/12

M.D. Greig
25,000 Nil Nil 25,000 £1.475 – 17/02/00 17/02/07
33,340 Nil Nil 33,340 £1.635 – 03/12/00 03/12/07
31,667 Nil Nil 31,667 £2.933 – 20/05/01 20/05/08
21,750 Nil Nil 21,750 £4.415 – 04/12/01 04/12/08
40,002 Nil Nil 40,002 £5.000 – 21/05/02 21/05/09
17,500 Nil Nil 17,500 £7.615 – 06/12/02 06/12/09
36,000 Nil Nil 36,000 £5.600 – 24/05/03 24/05/10
24,000 Nil Nil 24,000 £5.450 – 26/02/04 26/02/11
24,000 Nil Nil 24,000 £5.225 – 30/05/04 30/05/11
54,000 Nil Nil 54,000 £2.500 – 29/11/04 29/11/11

113,687 Nil Nil 113,687 £0.715 – 21/06/05 21/06/12
Nil 66,626 Nil 66,626 £0.785 – 04/12/05 04/12/12

All Directors’ share options are Super or Unapproved options.

No options were exercised by any of the Directors during the year.

A significant proportion of Executive Directors’ share options have exercise prices significantly above current share price
levels. Many of these also have performance conditions that are now unlikely to be achieved.

There have been no changes in the Directors’ interests in the shares of the Company during the period 1st October 2003 to
21st November 2003. No options held by Directors lapsed during the year.

The market price of the ordinary shares at 30th September 2003 was 149.0p and the range during the year was 49.0p 
to 151.5p.
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9. Directors’ shareholdings
The beneficial interests of the Directors in the ordinary shares of RM plc as at 30th September 2003 were:

30th September 2003 30th September 2002

J.P. Leighfield 148,000 148,000
T.R. Pearson 70,931 61,746
M.D. Fischer 4,272,190 4,272,190
M.D. Greig 95,902 95,750
S.L. Coutu 37,079 37,079
M.R.H.J. O’Regan 2,970,000 2,970,000
B. Carsberg – –
J.R. Windeler 20,000 –

In addition to the interests listed above, Tim Pearson has a non-beneficial interest as a trustee of the RML Staff Share
Scheme in 173,956 (2002: 196,720) shares.

10. Directors’ pensions
Both Tim Pearson and Mike Greig are members of the Group’s principal pension scheme, which provides benefits based
either on final pensionable salary or the value of individual accounts, depending on which is higher.

The table below shows at the year-end, the accrued pension should the Directors leave employment; the increase in the
accrued pension during the year; the increase excluding inflation and the transfer value of that increase less member
contributions and any increase/(decrease) in this value assessed on the transfer value basis of the scheme.

Transfer value Increase/
Increase Increase of increase Transfer Transfer (decrease)

Accrued Director’s in accrued in accrued (net of value value in transfer
annual contributions pension pension inflation and of accrued of accrued value (net

pension at during during (net of director’s pension at pension at of director’s
Age 30/09/03 the year the year inflation) contributions) 30/09/03 30/09/02 contributions)

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

T.R. Pearson 43 51 19 3 2 (6) 404 352 33
M.D. Greig 47 34 – 34 34 315 315 – 315

During the year two Directors were members of money purchase schemes. Contributions paid by the Company in respect of
such Directors were as follows:

Age 2003 2002
£000 £000

M.D. Fischer 53 – 2
M.D. Greig 47 17 16

17 18

When Mike Greig joined the Group in 1989 RM contractually committed to provide pension benefits equivalent to those 
offered by the Research Machines plc 1988 Pension Scheme. However, because of the pension earnings cap environment in
place at that time, contributions were made by both the Company and the individual to a separate money purchase scheme.
In 2003 the Remuneration Committee reviewed Mike Greig’s pension arrangements and determined that the most cost
effective manner of meeting the commitment was for him to join the 1988 scheme. He transferred into the scheme on 
30th September 2003 and the money purchase scheme (valued at £242,000 at that date) will be transferred accordingly.

This report was approved by the Board of Directors on 21st November 2003 and signed on its behalf by:

S.L. Coutu
Chairman, Remuneration Committee
21st November 2003
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of RM plc
We have audited the financial statements of RM plc for the
year ended 30th September 2003 which comprise the profit
and loss account, the balance sheets, the cash flow
statement and the related notes 1 to 29. These financial
statements have been prepared under the accounting
policies set out therein. We have also audited the
information in the part of the Directors’ Remuneration
Report that is described as having been audited.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a
body, in accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act
1985. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we 
might state to the Company’s members those matters we
are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, 
we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other
than the Company and the Company’s members as a body,
for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
As described in the statement of Directors’ responsibilities,
the Company’s Directors are responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements in accordance with applicable
United Kingdom law and accounting standards. They are
also responsible for the preparation of the other information
contained in the Annual Report including the Directors’
Remuneration Report. Our responsibility is to audit the
financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report described as having been audited in
accordance with relevant United Kingdom legal and
regulatory requirements and auditing standards.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial
statements give a true and fair view and whether the
financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report described as having been audited
have been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 1985. We also report to you if, in our opinion,
the Directors’ Report is not consistent with the financial
statements, if the Company has not kept proper accounting
records, if we have not received all the information and
explanations we require for our audit, or if information
specified by law regarding Directors’ remuneration and
transactions with the Company and other members of the
Group is not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement
reflects the Company’s compliance with the seven provisions
of the Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing
Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we report if it
does not. We are not required to consider whether the
Board’s statements on internal control cover all risks and
controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s corporate governance procedures or its risk and
control procedures.

We read the Directors’ Report and the other information
contained in the Annual Report for the above year as
described in the contents section including the unaudited
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report and consider the
implications for our report if we become aware of any
apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with
the financial statements.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with United Kingdom
auditing standards issued by the Auditing Practices Board.
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence
relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration
Report described as having been audited. It also includes an
assessment of the significant estimates and judgements
made by the Directors in the preparation of the financial
statements and of whether the accounting policies are
appropriate to the circumstances of the Company and the
Group, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to
give reasonable assurance that the financial statements and
the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report described as
having been audited are free from material misstatement,
whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In
forming our opinion, we also evaluated the overall adequacy
of the presentation of information in the financial statements
and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report
described as having been audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:
• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the

state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at 30th
September 2003 and of the profit of the Group for the year
then ended; and

• the financial statements and part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report described as having been audited
have been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 1985.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
Reading
21st November 2003

Independent Auditors’ Report
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Consolidated Profit and Loss Account
For the year ended 30th September 2003

2003 2002
Note £000 £000

Turnover 2
Existing operations 214,929 202,158
Acquisitions 565 -
Total turnover 215,494 202,158
Cost of sales (162,209) (150,914)
Gross profit 2 53,285 51,244

Operating expenses:
Selling & distribution (26,968) (26,457)
Research & development (11,729) (13,836)
Administrative expenses (9,451) (17,848)

(48,148) (58,141)

Operating profit/(loss) 3 5,137 (6,897)

Operating profit/(loss) analysed between:
– Existing operations before exceptional items and goodwill 7,575 4,059
– Exceptional administrative expenses – (8,968)
– Amortisation of goodwill – existing operations (2,112) (1,988)
– Operating profit/(loss) for existing operations 5,463 (6,897)
– Acquisitions before goodwill (8) –
– Amortisation of goodwill - acquisitions (318) –
– Operating loss for acquisitions (326) –
Total operating profit/(loss) 5,137 (6,897)

Net interest receivable 5 1,082 983
Profit/(Loss) on ordinary activities before taxation 6,219 (5,914)

Profit/(Loss) on ordinary activities before taxation analysed between:
– Profit on ordinary activities before taxation, amortisation of goodwill and 

exceptional administrative expenses 8,649 5,042
– Exceptional administrative expenses – (8,968)
– Amortisation of goodwill (2,430) (1,988)

6,219 (5,914)

Tax (charge)/credit on profit/(loss) on ordinary activities 6 (1,544) 1,095
Profit/(Loss) on ordinary activities after taxation 4,675 (4,819)

Dividends paid and proposed 7 (3,875) (3,767)
Retained profit/(loss) for the year 800 (8,586)
Earnings/(Loss) per ordinary share 8
Basic and diluted 5.2p (5.1p)
Diluted – before amortisation of goodwill 7.9p (3.0p)
Diluted – before amortisation of goodwill and exceptional items 7.9p 3.8p
Diluted – before amortisation of goodwill and exceptional items at normalised tax rates 6.9p 3.8p

All activities relate to continuing operations.
There were no recognised gains or losses other than the profit or loss for each year. Accordingly a consolidated statement of
total recognised gains and losses has not been presented.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated profit and loss account.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
As at 30th September 2003

2003 2002
Note £000 £000

Fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets 9 10,777 7,141
Tangible fixed assets 10 17,091 20,199
Investment in own shares 11 664 –

28,532 27,340

Current assets
Stocks 13 13,759 9,954
Debtors 14 44,317 43,041
Investments – short term cash deposits 13,125 20,157
Cash at bank and in hand 27,500 18,968

98,701 92,120

Creditors
Amounts falling due within one year 15 (76,028) (70,327)
Net current assets 22,673 21,793

Total assets less current liabilities 51,205 49,133

Creditors
Amounts falling due after more than one year 15 (8,081) (5,943)

Provision for liabilities and charges 16 (1,245) (2,131)

Net assets 41,879 41,059

Capital and reserves
Called-up share capital 17 & 18 1,794 1,794
Share premium account 18 20,349 20,349
Capital redemption reserve 18 94 94
Profit and loss account 18 19,642 18,822
Equity shareholders’ funds 18 41,879 41,059

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 21st November 2003.

T.R. Pearson M.D. Greig
Director Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated balance sheet.
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Company Balance Sheet
As at 30th September 2003

2003 2002
Note £000 £000

Fixed assets
Investment in subsidiary undertakings 12 26,156 18,997
Investment in own shares 11 664 –

26,820 18,997

Current assets
Debtors 14 28,409 35,017
Cash at bank and in hand 20 11

28,429 35,028

Creditors
Amounts falling due within one year 15 (5,268) (7,675)
Net current assets 23,161 27,353

Total assets less current liabilities 49,981 46,350

Creditors
Amounts falling due after more than one year 15 (2,450) (1,712)
Net assets 47,531 44,638

Capital and reserves
Called-up share capital 17 & 18 1,794 1,794
Share premium account 18 20,349 20,349
Capital redemption reserve 18 94 94
Profit and loss account 18 25,294 22,401
Equity shareholders’ funds 18 47,531 44,638

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 21st November 2003.

T.R. Pearson M.D. Greig
Director Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this balance sheet.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 30th September 2003

2003 2002
Note £000 £000

Net cash inflow from operating activities 19 18,612 25,019

Returns on investments and servicing of finance 20 1,082 983
Taxation (1,889) (4,209)
Capital expenditure and financial investment 21 (5,092) (3,506)
Acquisitions 22 (3,263) (499)
Equity dividends paid (3,716) (3,916)

Net cash inflow before use of liquid resources and financing 5,734 13,872

Management of liquid resources 23 7,032 (12,062)

Financing 24 (4,254) (3,903)
Increase/(Decrease) in cash in the year 8,512 (2,093)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated cash flow statement.

Reconciliation of Net Cash Flow to
Movement in Net Funds
For the year ended 30th September 2003

2003 2002
Note £000 £000

Increase/(Decrease) in cash in the year 8,512 (2,093)

Capital element of finance lease payments 20 11
Cash (outflow)/inflow from change in liquid resources (7,032) 12,062
Settlement of loan notes 4,234 522
Change in net cash resulting from cash flows 5,734 10,502
Issue of loan notes – (4,898)
Exchange translation 20 (9)
Movement in net funds in the year 5,754 5,595

Net funds brought forward 32,663 27,068

Net funds carried forward 25 38,417 32,663
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1. Statement of principal accounting policies

A summary of the Group’s principal accounting policies is set out below. All of these policies have been applied consistently
throughout the year and the preceding year.

Basis of accounting
The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with applicable United
Kingdom accounting standards.

Basis of consolidation
The Group financial statements consolidate the financial statements of RM plc and its subsidiary undertakings made up to
30th September 2003. The results of subsidiaries acquired are included in the Group profit and loss account from the date on
which control passed. Goodwill arising on acquisitions prior to 30th September 1998 was written off to a separate goodwill
reserve in accordance with the accounting standards then in force. In the Company’s financial statements investments in
subsidiary undertakings are stated at cost less any provision for impairment where appropriate.

Turnover and revenue recognition
Turnover represents amounts receivable for goods supplied and services provided to third parties net of VAT and other sales-
related taxes. Revenue on hardware and perpetual software licences is recognised on shipment providing there are no
unfulfilled obligations that are essential to the functionality of the delivered product. If such obligations exist, revenue is
recognised as they are fulfilled. Revenue from term licences is spread over the period of the licence, reflecting the Group’s
obligation to support the relevant software products or update their content over the term of the licence. Revenue from
contracts for maintenance, support and annually contracted products and services is recognised on a pro-rata basis over the
contract period. Revenue from installation, consultancy and other services is recognised when the service has been provided.
Revenue on long-term contracts is ascertained in a manner appropriate to the stage of completion of the contract.

Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are shown at cost less accumulated depreciation and any provision for impairment.

Depreciation is provided on tangible fixed assets at rates calculated to write off the cost, less estimated residual value, evenly
over each asset’s expected useful economic life as follows:

Leasehold building improvements Up to 25 years
Plant & equipment 4 - 10 years
Computers 2 - 6 years
Vehicles 2 - 4 years

RM’s computer units used for the purposes of administration, research and development and customer demonstrations are
capitalised and carried at cost less accumulated depreciation.

Intangible fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets are shown at cost less amortisation. Licence costs relate to Research Machines’ rights to use or
otherwise deal with software products. Goodwill relates to the acquisition of 3T Productions Limited, Softease Limited and
SIR (UK) Limited and the purchase of assets from Helicon Publishing Limited by the Group. Amortisation is provided at rates
to write off the cost of goodwill and licences on a straight-line basis over a period of between five and ten years. Provision is
made for impairment where appropriate.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions in the year ended 31st December 1997 and earlier periods was written off to reserves in
accordance with the accounting standards then in force. As permitted by the current accounting standard the goodwill
previously written off to reserves has not been reinstated in the balance sheet. On disposal or closure of a previously 
acquired business, the attributable amount of goodwill previously written off to reserves is included in determining the profit
or loss on disposal.

Derivative financial instruments
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to reduce exposure to foreign exchange transaction risk. The Group does not
hold or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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1. Statement of principal accounting policies continued

For a forward foreign exchange contract to be treated as a hedge the instrument must be related to actual foreign currency
assets or liabilities or to probable liabilities. It must involve the same currency or similar currencies as the hedged item and
must also reduce the risk of foreign currency exchange movements on the Group’s operations. Gains and losses arising on
these contracts are deferred and recognised in the profit and loss account, or as adjustments to the carrying amount of fixed
assets, only when the hedged transaction has itself been reflected in the Group’s accounts.

If an instrument ceases to be accounted for as a hedge, for example because the underlying hedged position is eliminated,
the instrument is marked to market and any resulting profit or loss recognised at that time.

Research and development
The Group undertakes a programme of R&D, in which advancement of technical knowledge and innovative solutions are used
to substantially improve the performance of product areas, to develop new products related to existing markets and to
enhance access to potential new markets. Expenditure of £11,729,000 was incurred in 2003 (2002: £13,836,000). All research
and development costs are written off in the year in which they are incurred.

Stocks
Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs include all costs incurred in bringing stocks to their
present state and location, including an appropriate proportion of overheads. Provision is made for obsolete, slow moving and
defective items where appropriate.

Long-term contracts
Amounts recoverable on long-term contracts, which are included in debtors, are stated at the net sales value of the work
done less amounts received as progress payments on account. Excess progress payments are included in creditors as
payments on account. Cumulative costs incurred net of amounts transferred to cost of sales, less provision for contingencies
and anticipated future losses on contracts, are included as long-term contract balances in stock.

Taxation
Current tax, including UK corporation tax and foreign tax, is provided at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered) using the
tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred taxation is provided in full on timing differences that result in an obligation at the balance sheet date to pay more
tax, or a right to pay less tax, at a future date, at rates expected to apply when they crystallise based on current tax rates and
law. Timing differences arise from the inclusion of items of income and expenditure in taxation computations in periods
different from those in which they are included in financial statements.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is regarded as more likely than not that they will be recovered.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

Investments
Investments in subsidiary undertakings are stated at cost less provision for any impairment.

Foreign currency
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated at the rate of
exchange ruling at the balance sheet date or, where appropriate, at the rate of exchange in a related forward contract.
Foreign currency transactions are translated at the rate ruling on the date of the transaction or, where appropriate, at the
rate in a related forward exchange contract. Exchange gains and losses are charged or credited to the profit and loss account
as they occur.

Leases
Assets held under finance leases and other similar contracts, which confer rights and obligations similar to those attached to
owned assets, are capitalised as tangible fixed assets and are depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and their
useful lives. The capital elements of future lease obligations are recorded as liabilities, while the interest elements are
charged to the profit and loss account over the period of the leases to produce a constant rate of charge on the balance of
capital repayments outstanding. Hire purchase transactions are dealt with similarly, except that assets are depreciated over
their useful lives.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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1. Statement of principal accounting policies continued

Rentals under operating leases are charged on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Pension costs
For the defined benefit scheme it is the general policy of the Group to provide for and to fund pension liabilities on the advice
of external actuaries, by payment to independent trusts. Independent actuarial valuations are carried out every three years.
The amount charged to the profit and loss account (‘the regular pension cost’) is calculated so as to produce a substantially
level percentage of current and future pensionable payrolls. Variations from the regular pension cost are allocated to the
profit and loss account over the average remaining service lives of current members.

For the defined contribution scheme the amount charged to the profit and loss account in respect of pension costs and other
post-retirement benefits is the contributions payable in the year.

Any differences between amounts charged in the profit and loss account and paid to the pension funds are shown in the
balance sheet as a liability or asset.

2. Segment information
2003 2002
£000 £000

Turnover by activity
Infrastructure software & services 65,888 55,624
Education software & services 37,978 47,655
Hardware 111,628 98,879

215,494 202,158

Gross margin by activity
Infrastructure software & services 17,871 17,088
Education software & services 19,869 18,333
Hardware 15,545 15,823

53,285 51,244

The activity headings reported this year have been changed from last year to better reflect how the Group is now managed.

All of the Group’s turnover, profit and net assets relate to the Group’s main activities, which are based principally in the
United Kingdom. Sales by destination to non-UK countries of £2,048,000 (2002: £1,974,000) included Europe £266,000 (2002:
£389,000), Australasia £1,759,000 (2002: £1,504,000) and other countries £23,000 (2002: £81,000).

No profit before tax or net asset by class of business segment information has been disclosed because in the opinion of the
Directors such disclosure would not be meaningful.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

3. Operating profit/(loss)

The operating profit/(loss) is stated after charging/(crediting):
2003 2002
£000 £000

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets:
– owned 7,836 8,796
– held under finance leases and hire purchase contracts – 9

Amortisation of intangible fixed assets:
– licences 226 5,631
– goodwill 2,430 1,988

Operating leases:
– land and buildings 2,219 4,520
– plant and machinery 591 707

Auditors’ remuneration:
Services as auditors 155 134
Further assurance services
– accounting and tax advice on acquisition 31 25
– tax compliance 79 71
Tax advisory services
– other non-audit services 25 37

Profit on sale of fixed assets (277) (130)

Research and development 11,729 13,836

The administrative expenses incurred in the previous year to 30th September 2002 includes £8,968,000 of exceptional items
(net effect after tax of £6,360,000), which relate to restructuring and redundancy activities, rationalisation of facilities and an
impairment charge relating to a licence held as an intangible asset.

4. Staff costs

The average monthly number of persons (including Directors and temporary staff) employed by the Group during the year
was as follows:

2003 2002
Number Number

employed employed

Products & Services 1,097 1,159
Marketing & Sales 230 196
Lifelong Learning and Higher Education 53 55
Corporate Services 165 180

1,545 1,590

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:
2003 2002
£000 £000

Wages and salaries 51,241 53,575
Social security costs 3,883 3,886
Other pension costs 3,191 3,119
Employee share scheme 100 (45)

58,415 60,535
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4. Staff costs continued

The prior year wages and salaries figure has been restated by £8,450,000 to include the full cost of temporary staff.

Information in relation to the Directors’ remuneration and share options is given in the Remuneration Report which is
marked as audited on pages 31, 34 and 35, which form part of the financial statements.

5. Net interest receivable
2003 2002
£000 £000

Interest receivable and similar income 1,172 1,154
Interest payable on loan notes (86) (151)
Other interest payable and similar charges (4) (20)

1,082 983

6. Tax (charge)/credit on profit/(loss) on ordinary activities
2003 2002
£000 £000

(a) Analysis of tax charge on ordinary activities

Current taxation
UK corporation tax at 30% (2002: 30%) based on the profit/(loss) for the year 2,611 847
Adjustment in respect of prior years (900) 18
Total current tax 1,711 865

Deferred taxation
Timing differences, origination and reversal (207) (1,945)
Adjustment in respect of prior years 40 (15)
Total deferred tax (167) (1,960)

Tax on profit/(loss) on ordinary activities 1,544 (1,095)

(b) Factors affecting the current tax charge for the period

The standard rate of tax for the year, based on the UK standard rate of corporation tax is 30% (2002: 30%). The actual tax
charge for the current and the previous year is less than the standard rate for the reasons set out in the following
reconciliation.

2003 2002
£000 £000

Profit/(Loss) on ordinary activities before tax 6,219 (5,914)

Tax at 30% thereon: 1,866 (1,774)

Effects of:
Goodwill amortisation not deductible for tax purposes 687 596
Other expenses not deductible for tax purposes 241 70
Capital allowances in excess of depreciation 69 2,121
Movement in short-term timing differences 138 (176)
Research and development tax credit (250) (100)
(Accrual)/Reversal for contributions in respect of share option arrangements (140) 110
Prior period adjustments (900) 18
Current tax charge for period 1,711 865
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

7. Dividends paid and proposed
2003 2002
£000 £000

Ordinary shares:
Interim paid of 0.95p (2002: 0.95p) per share 847 897
Final proposed of 3.40p (2002: 3.20p) per share 3,028 2,870

3,875 3,767

8. Earnings/(Loss) per ordinary share

Basic earnings per share are calculated on the Group’s profit after taxation of £4,675,000 (2002: £4,819,000 loss) divided by
the weighted average number of shares in issue during the year, being 89,400,658 shares (2002: 93,765,066). Diluted earnings
per share takes into account the dilutive effect of share options.

A reconciliation of basic earnings per share with diluted earnings per share is as follows:

2003 2003 2003 2002 2002 2002
Profit No. of Pence (Loss)/Profit No. of Pence

after tax shares per after tax shares per
£000 (‘000) share £000 (‘000) share

Basic earnings/(loss) per share 4,675 89,401 5.2 (4,819) 93,765 (5.1)
Impact of share options – 218 – – 10 –
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share 4,675 89,619 5.2 (4,819) 93,775 (5.1)

Supplementary earnings/(loss) per
share before amortisation of
goodwill and exceptional items:
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share 4,675 89,619 5.2 (4,819) 93,775 (5.1)
Effect of amortisation of goodwill 2,430 – 2.7 1,988 – 2.1
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share
before amortisation of goodwill 7,105 89,619 7.9 (2,831) 93,775 (3.0)

Effect of exceptional items – – – 6,360 – 6.8
Diluted earnings per share before
amortisation of goodwill and
exceptional items 7,105 89,619 7.9 3,529 93,775 3.8
Effect of normalising tax rate (878) – (1.0) – – –
Diluted earnings per share before
amortisation of goodwill and exceptional items
at normalised tax rates 6,227 89,619 6.9 3,529 93,775 3.8

Included in the current year within tax is a one-off benefit of an adjustment relating to prior years (see note 6). A new
earnings per share measure at normal tax rates of 28% excludes the effect of this adjustment.

The additional diluted earnings per share measures shown on the profit and loss account and above are included as the
Directors believe that they provide a better understanding of the underlying performance of the Group.
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9. Intangible fixed assets

The movement in the year was as follows:
Licence Goodwill Total

£000 £000 £000

Group

Cost: 
Beginning of the year 9,643 10,558 20,201
Additions – 6,292 6,292
End of the year 9,643 16,850 26,493

Amortisation:
Beginning of the year 9,417 3,643 13,060
Charged in the year 226 2,430 2,656
End of the year 9,643 6,073 15,716

Net book value at the end of the year – 10,777 10,777
Net book value at the start of the year 226 6,915 7,141

The goodwill additions relate to the acquisition of SIR (UK) Limited (see note 12).

10. Tangible fixed assets

The movement in the year was as follows:

Short
leasehold Plant &

improvements equipment Computers Vehicles Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Group

Cost:
Beginning of the year 2,574 6,594 27,812 7,164 44,144
Acquisition of subsidiary – 18 – 6 24
Additions 27 920 2,647 1,509 5,103
Disposals – (182) (1,866) (2,117) (4,165)
End of the year 2,601 7,350 28,593 6,562 45,106

Depreciation:
Beginning of the year 804 3,513 16,215 3,413 23,945
Charged in the year 132 904 5,153 1,647 7,836
Disposals – (175) (1,845) (1,746) (3,766)
End of the year 936 4,242 19,523 3,314 28,015

Net book value at the end of the year 1,665 3,108 9,070 3,248 17,091
Net book value at the start of the year 1,770 3,081 11,597 3,751 20,199

The net book value of leased vehicles is nil (2002: £8,000).
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

11. Investment in own shares

The RM plc Employee Share Trust (EST) was established in March 2003 to hedge the future obligations of the Group in
respect of shares awarded under the RM plc Co-Investment Plan. The Trustee of the EST, Computershare Trustees (C.I.)
Limited, purchases the Company’s ordinary shares in the open market with financing provided by the Company, as required,
on the basis of regular reviews of the anticipated share liabilities of the Group. The EST has waived any entitlement to the
receipt of dividends in respect of all of its holding of the Company’s ordinary shares. The EST’s waiver of dividends may be
revoked or varied at any time.

As at 30th September 2003, 650,000 ordinary shares of 2p each were held in trust at a cost of £664,000. The market value of
these shares at 30th September 2003 was £969,000.

12. Investment in subsidiary undertakings
2003 2002
£000 £000

Company

Equity investments in subsidiary undertakings at cost:
Beginning of the year 11,920 6,939
Investments during the year 7,159 4,981
End of the year 19,079 11,920
Loans to subsidiary undertakings 7,077 7,077

26,156 18,997

The Company’s principal subsidiary undertakings operating in the United Kingdom are Research Machines plc, 3T
Productions Limited, Softease Limited and SIR (UK) Limited (which trades as Forvus Computer Services), all of which are
wholly owned. RM Australasia Pty Limited and RM Education Solutions India Private Limited were incorporated in Australia
and India respectively. The Company subscribed for 100% of the issued share capital of each company.

The principal activity of Research Machines plc and RM Australasia Pty Limited is the supply of software, services and
systems to meet the specialist requirements of the education market. The principal activity of 3T Productions Limited
comprises the development and sale of bespoke interactive and multimedia software predominantly for education. The
principal activity of Softease Limited is the development and sale of educational software. The principal activity of SIR (UK)
Limited is the provision of outsourced services in the area of analysis and reporting of complex data sets to the UK public
sector. The principal activity of RM Education Solutions India Private Limited is the development of software for companies in
the Group, particularly Research Machines plc.

On the 11th July 2003 the Company acquired SIR (UK) Limited. The following table sets out the provisional fair values of the
identifiable assets and liabilities acquired:

Book value
£000

Tangible fixed assets 24
Debtors 393
Cash 1,446
Creditors (996)
Net assets acquired (provisional) 867
Goodwill 6,292

7,159

Satisfied by:
Initial cash consideration 4,630
Deferred cash consideration 2,450
Acquisition costs 79

7,159
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12. Investment in subsidiary undertakings continued

There were no fair value adjustments booked on acquisition therefore the fair value equates to the book value. The Directors
will be further considering these fair values and therefore they are provisional.

The consideration paid or payable consists of an initial consideration in cash of £4,630,000 with a further deferred
consideration of up to £2,450,000 payable in December 2006. The vendors have provided a warranty against the deferred
consideration, dependent upon certain financial targets being met. Goodwill arising on this acquisition of £6,292,000 is being
amortised to the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over 5 years.

SIR (UK) Limited earned a profit after taxation of £15,000 in the six months ended 30th September 2003 (year ended 
31st March 2003: £455,000), of which £27,000 arose in the period from 1st April 2003 to 11th July 2003. The summarised
profit and loss account for the period from 1st April 2003 to 11th July 2003, shown on the basis of the accounting policies 
of SIR (UK) Limited prior to the acquisition is as follows:

Profit and loss account

£000

Turnover 927
Cost of sales (136)
Gross profit 791
Other operating expenses (net) (750)
Operating profit 41
Interest income 8
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 49
Tax charge on profit on ordinary activities (22)
Profit on ordinary activities after tax for the period 27

There have been no recognised gains or losses in the period other than those amounts shown above, all of which were
derived from continuing operations.

13. Stocks
Group Group Company Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
£000 £000 £000 £000

Components 9,579 6,958 – –
Work in progress 332 85 – –
Finished goods 3,182 1,458 – –

13,093 8,501 – –

Long-term contract balances – net costs less foreseeable losses 666 1,453 – –
13,759 9,954 – –
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

14. Debtors
Group Group Company Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
£000 £000 £000 £000

Amounts falling due within one year:

Trade debtors 38,685 39,282 – –
Amounts recoverable on contracts 1,705 - – –
Other debtors 731 844 – –
Prepayments and accrued income 2,095 1,981 – –
Amounts owed from subsidiary undertaking – – 22,784 35,017
Dividends receivable – – 5,625 –

43,216 42,107 28,409 35,017
Amounts falling due after more than one year:

Deferred taxation comprising:
– Depreciation in excess of capital allowances 612 611 – –
– Short-term timing differences 489 323 – –

1,101 934 – –

44,317 43,041 28,409 35,017

Movement on deferred taxation asset in the year:

Beginning of the year 934 (1,026) – –
Profit and loss account credit 167 1,960 – –
End of the year 1,101 934 – –

The deferred tax assets arise from fixed asset and short-term timing differences which will reverse in the future.
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15. Creditors
Group Group Company Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
£000 £000 £000 £000

Amounts falling due within one year:

Finance leases – 20 – –
Trade creditors 21,550 19,649 – –
UK corporation tax 1,477 1,464 – –
Other taxation and social security 6,989 5,714 – –
Other creditors 540 550 – –
Loan notes 2,208 4,730 2,208 4,730
Accruals 20,201 19,261 31 75
Deferred income 20,034 16,069 – –
Proposed dividends 3,029 2,870 3,029 2,870

76,028 70,327 5,268 7,675

Amounts falling due after more than one year:

Loan notes:
– more than one year but not more than two years – 1,712 – 1,712

Other creditors:
– between two and five years 2,450 – 2,450 –

Deferred income:
– between one and two years 5,010 3,332 – –
– between two and five years 621 899 – –

5,631 4,231 – –

8,081 5,943 2,450 1,712

Other creditors relates to the deferred consideration on the acquisition of SIR (UK) Limited (see note 12). This has not been
discounted as any variation would not be material.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

16. Provision for liabilities and charges
Restructuring

provision
£000

Group

Beginning of the year 2,131
Utilised in the year (797)
Released (89)
End of the year 1,245

The restructuring provision principally relates to onerous lease contracts identified during the rationalisation of facilities
undertaken in the year ended 30th September 2002, and will be utilised over the remaining 12 years of the leases.

The Group and the Company have no unprovided deferred taxation (2002: nil).

17. Called-up share capital
2003 2002
£000 £000

Authorised:
125,000,000 ordinary shares of 2p each (2002: 125,000,000 at 2p each) 2,500 2,500

Allotted, called-up and fully paid:
89,700,795 ordinary shares of 2p each (2002: 89,700,795 at 2p each) 1,794 1,794

Nil ordinary shares of 2p each were allotted in the year (2002: 12,500).

RML Staff Share Scheme
The RML Staff Share Scheme is an Inland Revenue approved employee share scheme constituted under a trust deed. As at
30th September 2003 the trustees of the scheme held 173,956 shares (2002: 196,720) on behalf of the employees, which had
a market value on that date of £259,000 (2002: £117,000).

RM plc 2002 Staff Share Scheme
The RM plc 2002 Staff Share Scheme is an Inland Revenue approved employee share scheme constituted under a trust deed
and has been introduced to replace the RML Staff Share Scheme, which will cease in March 2005. As at 30th September 2003
the trustees of the scheme held 98,039 shares (2002: nil) on behalf of the employees, which had a market value on that date
of £146,000 (2002: nil).
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17. Called-up share capital continued

Share option schemes
As at 30th September 2003 the following options granted in respect of ordinary shares of 2p each were outstanding:

Exercise
Scheme Calendar year Number Period price

of issue of shares of option per share

a) RM plc 1994 Executive – Ordinary 1995 25,000 10 years £0.802
1996 10,000 10 years £1.220
1998 158,500 10 years £4.415
1999 168,000 10 years £5.000

361,500

b) RM plc 1994 Executive – Super 1997 392,830 10 years £1.475
1997 356,370 10 years £1.635
1998 722,503 10 years £2.933
1998 178,500 10 years £4.415
1999 684,810 10 years £5.000
1999 376,000 10 years £7.615
2000 679,653 10 years £5.600

3,390,666

c) RM plc 2001 Executive – Approved 2001 178,900 10 years £5.450
2001 27,000 10 years £5.225
2001 179,250 10 years £2.500
2002 135,000 10 years £0.735
2002 255,102 10 years £0.715
2002 209,583 10 years £0.785
2003 10,000 10 years £0.950

994,835

d) RM plc 2001 Executive – Unapproved 2001 523,900 10 years £5.450
2001 709,000 10 years £5.225
2001 1,051,000 10 years £2.500
2002 65,000 10 years £0.735
2002 1,321,076 10 years £0.715
2002 1,071,417 10 years £0.785

4,741,393

The Employee Benefit Trust
In 1993, the Company established an Employee Benefit Trust (‘EBT’) to operate in connection with the Company’s executive
share schemes. The trustee of the EBT is RM Employee Share Schemes Trustee Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company. No new ordinary shares have been allotted for use by the EBT during the year (2002: 12,500).

The EBT owns 14,290 shares of RM plc (2002: 14,290) and has waived rights to the dividend on these shares. On 
30th September 2003 these shares had a market value of £21,000 (2002: £9,000).

The RM plc Employee Share Trust
In March 2003 the Company established the RM plc Share Trust to hedge the future obligations of the Group in respect of
shares awarded under the RM plc Co-Investment Plan. For further details see note 11.
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18. Reserves and reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds
2003 2002

Share Share Capital Profit Total Total
capital premium redemption and loss shareholders’ shareholders’

account reserve account funds funds
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Group

Beginning of the year 1,794 20,349 94 18,822 41,059 53,024
Retained profit/(loss) for the year – – – 800 800 (8,586)
Share issues – – – – – 10
Share repurchase – – – – – (3,380)
Other – – – 20 20 (9)
End of the year 1,794 20,349 94 19,642 41,879 41,059

Company

Beginning of the year 1,794 20,349 94 22,401 44,638 52,276
Profit/(Loss) for the year – – – 6,768 6,768 (501)
Dividends paid and proposed – – – (3,875) (3,875) (3,767)
Share issues – – – – – 10
Share repurchase – – – – – (3,380)
End of the year 1,794 20,349 94 25,294 47,531 44,638

The total amount of goodwill written off to reserves is £1,111,000 and occurred in 1995.

As permitted by section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, no separate profit and loss account is presented in respect of the
parent company.

19. Reconciliation of operating profit to operating cash flows
2003 2002
£000 £000

Operating profit/(loss) 5,137 (6,897)
Depreciation charge 7,836 8,805
Normal amortisation of intangible fixed assets 2,656 2,619
Exceptional amortisation of intangible fixed assets – 5,000
Profit on sale of fixed assets (277) (130)
(Increase)/Decrease in stocks (3,805) 1,029
(Increase)/Decrease in debtors (715) 11,660
Increase in creditors 7,780 2,933
Net cash inflow from operating activities 18,612 25,019

20. Returns on investments and servicing of finance
2003 2002
£000 £000

Interest received 1,129 1,154
Interest paid (43) (168)
Interest element of finance lease rental payments (4) (3)
Net cash inflow 1,082 983
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21. Capital expenditure and financial investment
2003 2002
£000 £000

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (5,103) (4,134)
Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment 675 628
Purchase of own shares (664) –
Net cash outflow (5,092) (3,506)

22. Acquisitions and disposals
2003 2002
£000 £000

Purchase of assets of Helicon Publishing Limited – (695)
Purchase of SIR (UK) Limited (4,709) –
Cash acquired with subsidiary undertaking 1,446 196
Net cash outflow (3,263) (499)

23. Management of liquid resources
2003 2002
£000 £000

Cash withdrawn from/(placed in) deposit accounts 7,032 (12,062)

24. Financing
2003 2002
£000 £000

Issue of ordinary share capital – 10
Repayment of loan notes (4,234) (522)
Capital element of finance lease rental payments (20) (11)
Share repurchase – (3,380)
Net cash outflow (4,254) (3,903)

25. Analysis of net funds
Cash Other non At 30 Sept At 30 Sept
flow cash changes 2003 2002

£000 £000 £000 £000

Cash in hand, at bank 8,512 20 27,500 18,968
Current asset investments (7,032) – 13,125 20,157
Cash at bank and short term deposits 1,480 20 40,625 39,125

Finance leases 20 – – (20)
Debt due within one year 2,522 – (2,208) (4,730)
Debt due after one year 1,712 – – (1,712)
Net funds 5,734 20 38,417 32,663
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26. Financial instruments
The Group’s financial instruments, other than derivatives, comprise cash, liquid resources and various items, such as trade
debtors, trade creditors etc. that arise directly from its operations. The Group also enters into derivatives transactions in the
form of forward foreign currency contracts. The purpose of such transactions is to manage the currency risks arising from
the Group’s purchasing significant amounts of its raw materials in US Dollars. It is, and has been throughout the period
under review, the Group’s policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are liquidity risk, interest rate risk and foreign currency risk.
The Board reviews and agrees policies on a regular basis for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Liquidity and interest rate risk
The Group finances its operations through retained profits. The Group’s policy is to maintain only the foreign currency
balances required to pay its suppliers. Any surplus sterling balances are invested on the money market, or with financial
institutions on terms maturing from within 24 hours up to a period of 3 months with interest earned based on the relevant
national inter-bank rates available at the time of investing.

Foreign currency risk
The Group’s policy is to minimise currency exposures related to purchases in foreign currencies through short to medium
term forward foreign currency contracts.

As permitted by FRS 13, short-term debtors and creditors have been excluded from disclosures, other than the currency risk
disclosures.

Financial assets
Floating Interest Floating Interest

rate free Total rate free Total
2003 2003 2003 2002 2002 2002
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Sterling 39,707 68 39,775 33,349 4,345 37,694
US Dollar 115 3 118 3,543 (2,935) 608
Australian Dollar 594 45 639 474 55 529
Euro – 18 18 277 17 294
Indian Rupee 2 73 75 – – –

40,418 207 40,625 37,643 1,482 39,125

Fair values
The Group’s floating rate financial assets comprise cash deposits on money markets or with financial institutions on terms
maturing from 7 days to 3 months. As all are short-term, the fair value of the assets is not considered to be materially
different from the book value. In addition the Group held US Dollar forward purchase contracts with a maturing value of 
£29.5 million – £28.9 million of which matures in less than one year from the year-end and £0.6 million of which matures in
less than two years from the year-end. The unrecognised loss on forward contracts yet to mature, as at 30th September 2003
was £1.1 million – all of which is expected to be recognised in the year ending 30th September 2004. The prior year amount
was not material.

Currency exposures
As at 30th September 2003, after taking into account the effects of forward exchange contracts the Group had no significant
currency liabilities at the balance sheet date. There are no material unrecognised gains or losses as at 30th September 2003.

Borrowing facilities
The Group has undrawn committed borrowing facilities at 30th September 2003, expiring in January 2004, of £22.7 million
(2002: £12.7 million).

Financial liabilities
The Group has loan notes as disclosed in note 15. The interest payable on these loan notes is set to market rates every 
6 months and, as a result, there is no material difference between the fair value and the book value of these loan notes.



Annual report and accounts 2003 RM plc 61

27. Pension scheme
The Group operates or contributes to a number of pension schemes, all of which are defined contribution with the exception
of The Research Machines plc 1988 Pension Scheme. That scheme, which closed to new members with effect from 
1st January 2003, provides benefits based on both final pensionable salary and the value of individual accounts. The assets of
the scheme are held separately from those of the Group in a trustee administered fund. Contributions to the scheme are
determined by a qualified actuary on the basis of valuations. They are charged to the profit and loss account so as to spread
these costs over employees’ working lives with the Group.

Statement of Standard Accounting Practice 24 disclosures (SSAP 24)
An actuarial valuation of the scheme was carried out as at 31st May 2003 for funding purposes, using the projected unit
method of funding. It was assumed that investment returns would be 6.4% p.a. pre-retirement, 4.7% p.a. post-retirement,
salaries would increase by 3.85% p.a., and pensions would increase by 1.5% p.a. in respect of service accrued before 1st April
1997, and 2.35% p.a. in respect of service accrued on or after 1st April 1997. Assets were taken at their market value.

At 31st May 2003 the market value of the scheme’s assets was estimated to be £31,330,000. This represented 71% of the
benefits that had accrued to the members after allowing for expected future increases in salaries. The valuation also showed
that the expected long-term cost of the scheme to the Group was 7.4% of pensionable salaries. Additional annual
contributions of £1,320,000 are payable in order to recover the deficit in funding over 15 years.

Effective from 1st April 2003 employee contributions to the scheme for those over age 25 were increased by 0.25% of
pensionable salaries. In addition, various changes to benefits were introduced.

The pension charge for the year is disclosed in note 4.

Included in creditors falling due within one year are outstanding pension contributions of £667,000 (2002: £395,000). No
amounts are outstanding in respect of the Company.

As required by SSAP 24, the figures included in the accounts in respect of the Company pension scheme are based on an
actuarial valuation carried out at 31st May 2003. This does not take into account any impact of the fall in general stock
market values since that date. Any such impact will be reflected in the next SSAP 24 triennial valuation as at 31st May 2006
based upon which subsequent pension costs will be determined until the adoption of FRS 17.

Financial Reporting Standard 17 disclosures (FRS 17)
The pension cost figures used in these accounts comply with the current pension cost accounting standard SSAP 24. FRS 17
has been introduced with transition arrangements under which the Company is required to disclose the following information
about the scheme and the figures that would have been shown under FRS 17 in the balance sheet and the profit and loss
account.

A full actuarial valuation was carried out at 31st May 2003 and updated to 30th September 2003 by a qualified independent
actuary. The major assumptions used by the actuary were (in nominal terms):

At 30 Sept At 30 Sept At 30 Sept
2003 2002 2001

Discount rate 5.40% 5.50% 6.00%
Rate of increase in salaries 4.00% 3.75% 4.00%
Rate of increase in pensions in deferment 2.50% 2.25% 2.50%
Rate of increase in pensions in payment 2.50% 2.25% 2.50%
Inflation assumption 2.50% 2.25% 2.50%
In addition there was an increase in the life expectancy assumptions as described later.
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27. Pension scheme continued

The fair value of the assets in the scheme and the expected rates of return were:

At 30 Sept At 30 Sept At 30 Sept At 30 Sept At 30 Sept At 30 Sept
2003 2003 2002 2002 2001 2001

£000 £000 £000

Equities 7.00% 26,140 7.00% 21,850 7.00% 23,300
Bonds 4.50% 7,770 4.50% 2,725 5.00% 2,500
Other 4.00% – 4.00% 525 5.00% 400
Total market value of scheme assets 33,910 25,100 26,200
Actuarial value of scheme liability 50,610 42,000 33,700
Shortfall in the scheme assets (16,700) (16,900) (7,500)
Related deferred tax asset 5,010 5,070 2,250
Net pension shortfall (11,690) (11,830) (5,250)

Analysis of the amount that would have been charged to operating profit
2003 2002
£000 £000

Current service cost 1,700 1,950
Past service cost 280 300
Total operating charge 1,980 2,250

Analysis of amount that would have been charged to other finance income
2003 2002
£000 £000

Expected return on pension scheme assets 1,800 1,925
Interest on pension liabilities (2,400) (2,125)
Net return (600) (200)

Analysis of amount that would have been recognised in statement of total recognised gains and losses
2003 2002
£000 £000

Actual return less expected return on assets 2,850 (7,600)
Experience gains and losses on liabilities 5,300 650
Changes in assumptions (8,500) (3,125)
Net loss recognised (350) (10,075)

The changes in assumptions item includes £4,200,000 in respect of a strengthening of the mortality assumptions to allow for
improving life expectancy. The standard tables adopted are PMA92-3 and PFA92-3 for in-service members compared to
unadjusted PMA92 and PFA92 previously.
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27. Pension scheme continued

Movement in deficit during the year
2003 2002
£000 £000

Deficit before tax in scheme at beginning of year (16,900) (7,500)
Movement in year:
Current service costs (1,700) (1,950)
Contributions (including augmentations) 3,130 3,125
Past service costs (280) (300)
Other finance expense (600) (200)
Actuarial loss (350) (10,075)
Deficit before tax in scheme at end of year (16,700) (16,900)

History of experience gains and losses
2003 2002

Difference between expected and actual return on scheme assets:
– amount (£000) 2,850 (7,600)
– as a percentage of scheme assets 8% 30%
Experience gains and losses on scheme liabilities:
– amount (£000) 5,300 650
– as a percentage of scheme liabilities 10% 2%
Total amount recognised in statement of total recognised gains and losses:
– amount (£000) (350) (10,075)
– as a percentage of scheme liabilities 1% 24%

If the pension shortfall was recognised in the financial statements, the Group’s net assets and profit and loss reserve would
be as follows:

At 30 Sept 2003 At 30 Sept 2002
£000 £000

Net assets excluding pension liability 41,879 41,059
Pension liability (11,690) (11,830)
Net assets including pension liability 30,189 29,229

At 30 Sept 2003 At 30 Sept 2002
£000 £000

Profit and loss reserve excluding pension liability 19,642 18,822
Pension shortfall (11,690) (11,830)
Profit and loss reserve 7,952 6,992
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28. Contingencies and commitments

Commitments under operating leases
The Group leases certain assets under operating leases, the terms of which are subject to renegotiation at various intervals
as specified in the lease agreements, and is committed to the following payments in the coming year:

2003 Land &
Buildings Other

£000 £000

Expiry date:
– within one year 90 –
– between two and five years 240 368
– after five years 2,286 –

2,616 368

2002 Land &
Buildings Other

£000 £000

Expiry date:
– within one year 42 160
– between two and five years 121 219
– after five years 2,049 –

2,212 379

Capital commitments

The Group has the following capital expenditure commitments:
2003 2002
£000 £000

Contracted for but not provided for 2,746 1,407

29. Post balance sheet event
Following the close of the year Peakschoolhaus Limited was acquired for a maximum consideration of up to £2.9 million
satisfied by an initial payment of £1.5 million in cash, with a further maximum deferred consideration of £1.4 million, 
payable through the issue of loan notes in three years time, conditional upon the performance of the business over the 
three year period.
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Financial highlights

Who we are 
The RM Group provides innovative professional services
and Information and Communications Technology (ICT)
products to schools, colleges and universities, 
local government and central government education
departments and agencies. We focus on working 
with our customers to use new processes, techniques
and technology to improve educational delivery 
and outcomes.

Where we are going
The RM Group is already the UK’s leading supplier 
of educational ICT. Our aim is to become a broadly-
based provider of educational services, focusing on
educational processes and improvement.

The opportunity
With growing education budgets, and the private 
sector increasingly seen as a key source of 
educational innovation, the RM Group is well placed 
for future growth.

2003 2002

Turnover £215.5m £202.2m

Turnover (ex LSP) £214.3m £182.9m

Operating expenses excluding goodwill £45.7m* £47.2m

Profit before tax, goodwill and exceptional items £8.6m** £5.0m***

Net funds at 30th September £38.4m £32.7m

*Total operating expenses of £48.1m, less goodwill amortisation of £2.4m.
**Total profit before tax of £6.2m, plus goodwill amortisation of £2.4m.
***Before exceptional items.

IFC Introduction
2 Delivering our strategy – Q&As
4 Objectives: 2003
8 Chairman’s Statement

10 Chief Executive Officer’s Review
15 Group Finance Director’s Review 
18 Board of Directors 
20 Shareholder Information

Our business
model
We work in partnership with our
customers with the shared aim of
improving education.

Focus
The RM Group’s single focus is education.
With many of our staff having experience 
as educationalists, our understanding,
knowledge and experience are genuinely
valued by our customers.

Direct engagement 
RM Group companies have a close
relationship with the users of their
products and services.  We are directly
involved in our customers’ successes and
immediately aware of how we can improve.

Innovation
The RM Group has a long track record of
educational innovation. From the earliest
days of education computing to the cutting
edge of online assessment, we are a 
world-leader.

Customer satisfaction 
The RM Group strives to provide ever
improving levels of customer service. We
aim to put our customers’ experience at 
the heart of everything we do.

Five Year Summary

£000 (except where otherwise stated) 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

Turnover 162,210 207,560 241,916 202,158 215,494

Operating profit* 11,730 15,046 15,860 4,059 7,567

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation* 12,262 15,497 16,252 5,042 8,649

Profit/(Loss) after taxation 9,197 7,509 10,656 (4,819) 4,675

Tax rate** 25% 20% 28% 28% 18%

Diluted earnings per share* 9.8p 13.0p 12.3p 3.8p 7.9p

Diluted earnings per share at normalised tax rate of 28%* 9.3p 11.6p 12.3p 3.8p 6.9p

Dividends per share 2.86p 3.50p 4.15p 4.15p 4.35p

Balance sheet:

– Capital employed 18,749 25,950 23,859 1,934 1,254

– Net cash 17,794 19,182 29,165 39,125 40,625

– Net funds 17,794 16,852 27,068 32,663 38,417

– Shareholders’ funds 36,543 45,132 53,024 41,059 41,879

Operating profit* as a percentage of:

– Turnover 7.2% 7.2% 6.6% 2.0% 3.5%

– Average capital employed 75.5% 67.3% 63.7% 31.5% 474.7%

Average no. of employees 1,322 1,571 1,738 1,590 1,545

Notes:
*Before amortisation of goodwill and exceptional items.
**Tax rate as a % of profit before amortisation of goodwill.
Exceptional items comprise:

2000 – £5,359 exceptional cost of sales related to an abortive project in Northern Ireland.
2002 – £8,968 exceptional administrative expenses related to restructuring and intangible asset impairment.
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